Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Nadia Lisa-Adele Francis-Sandy

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kevin Davies, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Charlene Dunfee, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016



Abstract

Strategies for Maintaining Credit Union Profitability in Grenada

by

Nadia Francis-Sandy

MSc, University of the West Indies, 2001

BSc, University of the West Indies, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2016



Abstract

Nonbank financial institutions (NBFIs), of which credit unions comprise, constitute an important part of the financial sector because of their contribution to economic development, particularly in developing economies. This multiple case study explored strategies for maintaining credit union profitability against the backdrop of numerous closures in the past decade. The conceptual framework for this study was agency theory. Data were collected from 6 purposefully selected managers or directors representing individual credit unions in Grenada. Data were also collected from publicly available sources and used to conduct methodological triangulation. The interview data were coded using a computer-aided software package, and the interpretations of the data subjected to member checking. The emergent themes from both sources were then aggregated into 6 major strategies for maintaining credit union profitability, namely credit risk management, portfolio growth and development, operational efficiency, advertising and promotion, performance metrics, and strategy review. Agency problems exist in the credit union environment and influence the strategies leaders of credit unions in Grenada employ to maintain profitability. Findings from this study represent a corollary against the participants' position that agency theory is not applicable in the credit union environment because of the existence of the common bond. Implications for social change include safeguarding the financial wellbeing of credit union members by contributing to the soundness of Grenada's NBFIs. This is social implication is an important consideration given the mission of the credit union sector to serving the disenfranchised and to the growth and stability of developing economies.





Strategies for Maintaining Credit Union Profitability in Grenada

by

Nadia Francis-Sandy

MSc, University of the West Indies, 2001 BSc, University of the West Indies, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2016



ProQuest Number: 10251018

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10251018

Published by ProQuest LLC (2016). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved.

This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346



Dedication

In honor of the memory of my father, Augustine Francis, my beloved.

To my daughters, Gabrielle Nadine Abigail Sandy and Abriella, Ianna, Hannah Sandy – my best gifts yet. May this achievement encourage you both to reach your fullest potential.



Acknowledgments

I extend my profound thanks to my Chair, Dr. Kevin Davies, Dr. Roger Mayer, and Dr. Charlene Dunfee for their thoroughness and their sharp eyes for detail. I especially want to thank Dr. Freda Tuner, DBA Program Director for her encouragement throughout this journey. To my husband, Ian H. H. Sandy, thank you for your patience and support during my many frustrations and sleepless nights. To my mother, Phyllis Francis, thank you for your unwavering support, especially with Gabrielle. To the rest of family members and my friends, thank you for your prayers. This is as much your achievement as it is mine. Last, but not least, I thank my savior Jesus Christ. Indeed, I can do all things by your strength. To God be the Glory!



Table of Contents

List of Tables	V
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	8
Implications for Social Change	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
Agency Theory: A Suitable Conceptual Framework	11
Rival Theories of the Conceptual Framework: Stakeholder Theory and	
Systems Theory	12

	Prior studies with Agency Theory as the Conceptual Framework	15
	Credit Unions: An Overview	22
	Achieving and Maintaining Organizational Profitability – Nonfinancial Firms	23
	Profitability of Financial Institutions	26
	Credit Risk and Profitability	28
	Interest rate and Profitability	37
	Size, Operational Efficiency, and Profitability	38
	Advertising, Promotion and Profitability	39
	Liquidity and Profitability	40
	Capital and Profitability	41
	Transition	42
Se	ction 2: The Project	44
	Purpose Statement	44
	Role of the Researcher	45
	Participants	47
	Research Method and Design	48
	Research Method	. 49
	Research Design	. 50
	Population and Sampling	51
	Ethical Research	53
	Data Collection Instruments	54
	Data Collection Technique	57



	Data Organization Technique	60
	Data Analysis	60
	Reliability and Validity	62
	Reliability	62
	Validity	64
	Transition and Summary	65
Se	ction 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	67
	Introduction	67
	Presentation of the Findings	68
	Theme 1: Credit Risk Management	70
	Theme 2 Portfolio Growth & Development	72
	Theme 3: Operational Efficiency	75
	Theme 4: Advertising and Promotion	76
	Theme 5: Performance Metrics	78
	Theme 6: Strategy Review	79
	Other Observations	82
	Applications to Professional Practice	82
	Implications for Social Change	83
	Recommendations for Action	85
	Recommendations for Further Research	86
	Reflections	87
	Caralasian	00

References	90
Appendix A: Draft Letter of Cooperation	127
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	129
Appendix C: Case Study Protocol	131
Appendix D: Interview Questions	133



List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Sources	1
Table 2. Outcomes from Strategy Review Process	8



Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Academic literature is replete with studies on managing the profitability of financial institutions, especially banks, and of businesses in general, but few on managing profitability at nonbank financial institutions (NBFIs) (Khandoker, Raul, & Rahman, 2013). NBFIs constitute an important part of the financial sector because of their contribution to economic development, particularly in developing economies (Ofoeda, Abor, & Charles, 2012). Credit unions are an important category of NBFIs, having grown in number in the past 2 decades (De Carvalho, Neto, & Guimarães Kalatzis, 2015). Notwithstanding, the closure of credit unions is significant (De Carvalho et al., 2015). Against this backdrop, I explored strategies used by leaders of credit unions in Grenada to maintain profitability.

Background of the Problem

Financial intermediaries play an important role in economic development, with banks being the most predominant financial intermediaries in the financial sector (Bhatia, Mahajan, & Chander, 2012). NBFIs constitute an important part of the financial sector because of their contribution to economic development, particularly in developing economies (Ofoeda et al., 2012). Consequently, the financial performance of NBFIs is important to many stakeholders including shareholders, academics, practitioners, and governments (Sakyi, Ofoeda, Kyereboah-Coleman, & Abor, 2014). While there is copious literature on managing profitability at banks, there is a paucity of research on maintaining profitability at NBFIs (Khandoker et al., 2013). Credit unions are important financial intermediaries yet to be extensively studied (De Carvalho et al., 2015; Robin &

Wollan, 2012).

I used the findings of this study to address the gap in the extant literature on maintaining the profitability of NBFIs credit unions. Specifically, the purpose of this study was to explore the strategies leaders of NBFIs credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability. Grenada is a developing economy in which the financial sector comprises five commercial banks and various NBFIs. Twelve licensed credit unions are among the sundry NBFIs that operate in Grenada (Grenada Authority for the Regulation of Financial Institutions [GARFIN], 2015). Agency theory was the chosen conceptual underpinning for this study given the duality in ownership, management, and risk appetite between principals (shareholders) and agents (directors and managers) of NBFIs (Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Jiang, Lockee, & Fraser, 2012).

Problem Statement

NBFIs constitute an important part of the financial sector because of their contribution to economic development, particularly in developing economies (Ofoeda et al., 2012). Between 2005 and 2015, 43% of registered credit unions in Grenada closed down (Grenada Authority for the Regulation of Financial Institutions [GARFIN], 2015). The general business problem is that credit union leaders lack strategies to maintain profitability. The specific business problem addressed in this study is the lack of strategies by some leaders of credit unions in Grenada to maintain profitability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this multiple qualitative case study was to explore strategies that credit unions leaders in Grenada, namely directors and managers, use to maintain



profitability. The targeted population for this study was comprised of directors and managers of licensed credit unions operating in Grenada. The implication for positive social change includes the aversion of contagion, moral hazard (Ofoeda et al., 2012) and negative economic growth (Liang & Reichert, 2012) through the maintenance of financially sound credit unions.

Nature of the Study

Researchers may use quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methodologies. I employed a qualitative research methodology because of the exploratory nature of the proposed study (Bailey, 2014; Denzin & Lincoln, 2008). A quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study because quantitative research is deductive in nature (Mariotto, Pinto Zanni, & De Moraes, 2014). Moreover, quantitative researchers use statistical techniques to test hypotheses (Wieland & Wallenburg, 2012), explain causality, and generalize about a study population (Mariotto et al., 2014). I did not propose to test hypotheses, nor establish causality; hence, a quantitative approach was incongruous with this study. Similarly, because mixed studies have a quantitative element, a mixed study was also unsuitable for this study. Additionally, mixed studies are time consuming and more suited to exploring new phenomenon with unknown variables (Golicic & Davis, 2012).

The specific qualitative design chosen for this study was a multiple exploratory case study. I determined that a case study was an appropriate qualitative design for this study because case studies are a robust approach to exploring contemporary issues in the field of management (Barratt et al., 2011; Mariotto et al., 2014). I contemplated other



qualitative designs – narrative, ethnography, and phenomenology – but none is sufficiently robust that I may garner data from multiple sources as with case studies (Yilmaz, 2013; Yin, 2014). Further, I rejected a narrative approach because I did not intend to tell stories about events or the experiences of individuals (Whiffin, Bailey, Ellis-Hill, & Jarret, 2014). An ethnographical approach was unsuited to this study because I did not intend to study the lives a particular ethnic or cultural group (Case, Todd, & Kral, 2014). Similarly, I did not adopt a phenomenological design because qualitative researchers use phenomenology to gain insights into the lived experiences of individuals (Madison, 2015) and is therefore unfitting to the purpose of this study. I also determined that grounded theory was an unsuitable design for the Doctorate of Business Administration (DBA). Research candidates undertaking Doctorates in Philosophy (PhD) programs frequently adopt grounded theory in their quest to develop new theories. It was not my intention to develop new theories.

Research Question

The central research question for this proposed study was:

What strategies do leaders of credit union in Grenada use to maintain profitability?

Interview Questions

The following interview questions were posed to each participant to address the specific business problem of this study:

- 1. What strategies do you use to maintain profitability?
- 2. Proponents of agency theory advocate that a divergence of interest exists



- between agents like you and shareholders or members of the credit union.

 How do the profit strategies you employ prove or disprove this proposition?
- 3. How do the strategies you use to maintain profitability advance the interest of shareholders?
- 4. How do you conduct your profitability analysis?
- 5. What performance tools do you use to monitor and measure profitability?
- 6. What approach do you take when it becomes apparent to you that your current strategies will not be effective at maintaining profitability?
- 7. How often do you review your strategies for maintaining profitability?
- 8. What other information can you share regarding maintaining profitability that I did not ask?

Conceptual Framework

I chose agency theory as the conceptual framework for this study. Berle and Means (1932) pioneered agency theory, which pertains to the plurality of relationships between business principals and their agents. Berle and Means purported that there is a divergence of ownership (shareholders) and control (directors and managers) in modern corporations such that gives rise to the agency problem. Jensen and Meckling (1976) contributed to the development of contemporary agency theory relative to categorizing agency costs. Other tenets of agency theory are accountability (Painter-Morland, 2011), consequence for dereliction of duty (Dijkstra, 2010), and divergence of risk tolerance of agents and principals (Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Jiang et al., 2012).

Leaders of organizations are culpable for maintaining profitability (Soltani, 2014). As agents of shareholders and deposits (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012), leaders of financial institutions are responsible for the profitably of the organizations they lead (Davies, 2013). Consequently, I determined agency theory to be a useful conceptual framework for exploring the strategies leaders of credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability. I considered agency theory to be a befitting conceptual framework for this study because of the divergence of ownership and control at credit unions.

Operational Definitions

Credit risk. Credit risk refers to the probability of loss due to the inability of borrowers or counterparties to repay the facilities extended by lenders (Calin Sr. III & Popovici, 2014).

Credit risk management. Credit risk management is the process of administering the loan portfolio of financial institutions in accordance with the terms that govern the credit relationship (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012).

Credit union profitability. Credit union profitability refers to the residue of revenue after all operating expenses that is available for distribution to members or reinvestment in the credit union (De Carvalho et al., 2015).

Nonbank financial institutions (NBFIs). Nonbank financial institutions (NBFIs) refers to financial institutions other than banks, including credit unions, insurance companies, and credit societies that provide a range of credit services not often offered by banks (Dima & Corches, 2013).



Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are unverified truths that underpin an envisioned study (Ellis & Levy, 2009). My primary assumption for this study was that the research participants had the knowledge to answer each interview question. Another assumption I held was that the research participants would answer each interview question openly, honestly, and forthrightly. My final assumption was that leaders of credit unions in Grenada use management strategies to maintain profitability.

Limitations

Research limitations are overt disclosures by researchers of potential flaws, shortcomings, or deficiencies of elements of an envisioned study (Mur-Duenas, 2012). The failure of researchers to disclose research limitations may result in counterclaims from peers that may destroy the validity of their research and cause scholarly disrepute (Mur-Duenas, 2012). I envisaged four limitations. First, I considered the small sample size of six leaders of credit unions in Grenada to be a limitation of this study. Second, the right of the participants to withdraw at any time represented another limitation.

Consequently, there was the possibility that the participants who completed the study may not be truly representative of the target population. Third, given that a case study was my chosen qualitative design, I was not able to generalize outside of the boundaries of this study. The fourth limitation was the inclusion of only credit unions in this study though other categories of NBFIs including microcredit institutions, building societies, and insurance companies operate in Grenada.



Delimitations

Research delimitations refer to delineating or demarcation criteria intentionally set by researchers to restrict the boundaries and scope of a study (Ellis & Levy, 2009; Simon & Goes, 2013). The criteria for delineating research can be numerous and may include geographical (Wlodarczyk, 2014), special features or conditions (Nascimento, Franco, Sousa, Dias, & Neves, 2012), species (Yamashita & Rhoads, 2013), gender (Dunkle & Decker, 2013), or subject (Pissourious, 2014). I had two delimitations for this study. The primary delimitation criterion of this study was geographical location. I conducted a multiple exploratory case study of the strategies leaders of credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability. Consequently, NBFIs operating outside of Grenada are beyond the scope of this study. A second delimitation of this study was the special condition that each interview participant met one of three qualifying criteria. Specifically, each participant must have been either a (a) member of the board of directors, (b) member of a subcommittee of the board of directors, or (c) holder of a managerial or supervisory position at a licensed credit union.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

NBFIs constitute an important part of the financial sector because of their contribution to economic development, particularly in developing economies (Ofoeda et al., 2012). Moreover, the financial performance of NBFIs is important to many stakeholders including shareholders, academics, practitioners, and governments (Sakyi et al., 2014). While there is copious literature on managing profitability at banks, there is a

paucity of research on managing profitability at NBFIs (Khandoker et al., 2013), which laid the relevance of this study to business practice. That is, leaders of NBFIs may be able to use the results of this study as a yardstick to reevaluate current profitability strategies and practices (Moll, 2014). Leaders of NBFIs may also be able to use the results of this study to inform the development of new strategies for maintaining profitability.

Implications for Social Change

One implication for positive social change may include a contribution to the soundness of NBFIs in Grenada. Moreover, minimizing the extent of effort by governments and regulators to avert the collapse of NBFIs (Khandoker et al., 2013). These implications for positive social change are important because of the contribution NBFIs make to the financial sector and to economic growth and stability, especially in developing economies (Ofoeda et al., 2012). Against this backdrop, safeguarding the profitability of credit unions can avert moral hazard and contagion (Ofoeda et al., 2012).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this multiple qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that leaders of credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability. Agency theory was my chosen conceptual framework for this study. In this professional and academic literature review, I will present (a) rationale to support the conceptual framework, (b) synthesis of the literature pertaining to agency theory, (c) rival theories to the proposed conceptual framework, and (d) thematic synthesis and comparison of extant literature related to the research topic.

In my review of the professional literature, I examined sundry publications related



to the subject of this study. I explored several databases, including ProQuest Central, Academic Search Complete, and Thoreau, housed in Walden University's virtual library for relevant literature. I used only peer-reviewed sources in my review of the professional literature, ninety one percent of which were published between 2012 and 2016. I verified the peer review status of articles primarily via Ulrich's Periodicals Directory. For journals not listed in Ulrich's Periodicals Directory, I verified the peer review status by visiting the home page of the respective journals. Within these databases searched, I pursued keyword searches pertinent to the research topic from which I came upon emergent themes used in the organization of this literature review. Accordingly, I have divided this literature review into the following sections: (a) agency theory: a suitable conceptual framework, (b) rival theories to the conceptual framework: stakeholder theory and systems theory, (c) prior studies with agency theory as the conceptual framework, (d) credit unions: an overview, (e) achieving organizational profitability nonfinancial firms, (f) profitability of financial institutions, (g) credit risk and profitability, (h) interest rate and profitability, (i) size, operational efficiency and profitability, (i) advertising, promotion, and profitability, (k) liquidity and profitability, and (1) capital and profitability. In summary, my review of the professional literature comprised 112 peer-reviewed sources as follows:

Table 1

Literature Review Sources

Source	Prior to 2012	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	Total
Peer-reviewed articles	10	14	36	27	23	1	112
Percentage	9	13	32	24	21	1	100

Agency Theory: A Suitable Conceptual Framework

I chose agency theory as the conceptual framework of this study. Researchers use agency theory to explain the contractual relationship between principals who delegate responsibility to agents to conduct activities on their behalf (Heracleous & Lan, 2012). Researchers use agency theory to explain the relationship between principals and agents relative to self-interest, goal conflict, and risk (Nyberg, Fulmer, Gerhart, & Carpenter, 2010). Agents act on behalf of principals to advance the interests of their principals (Heracleous & Lan, 2012). Proponents of agency theory advocate that there asymmetries exist between principals and agents – goal, information, and risk asymmetry – because principals do not have effective mechanisms to monitor the performance of their agents (Tan & Lee, 2015). Many researchers use agency theory to help equate the interests of agents and principals that sometimes conflict (Bryant & Davis, 2012; Heracleous & Lan, 2012).

Leaders of NBFIs are agents of shareholders and depositors who invest their resources in financial institutions (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012). Shareholders and depositors have stakes in the profitability of the financial institutions (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012). Consequently, leaders of NBFIs have a responsibility as the agents of shareholders



and depositors to maintain profitability (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012). Consistent with agency theory, profitability is a measure of the performance of leaders of organizations (Pugliese, Minichilli, & Zattoni, 2014). Specific to this study, I used agency theory to help explore the strategies that leaders of credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability.

Rival Theories of the Conceptual Framework: Stakeholder Theory and Systems Theory

There are other theories that may help leaders of credit unions explicate the strategies they employ to maintaining profitability. Among these are stakeholder theory and systems theory. There are meritorious and unmeritorious grounds for both stakeholder theory and systems theory relative to answering the specific business problem.

Stakeholder theory. Researchers often pair stakeholder theory with the concept of corporate social responsibility (Fassin, 2012; Jones & Felps, 2013; Mishra & Mishra, 2013; Tashman & Raelin, 2013). Advocates of stakeholder theory opine that the performance of organizations affect various nonshareholder groups including customers, employees, governments – even the public (Tashman & Raelin, 2013). The tenets of stakeholder theory countervail those of shareholder wealth maximization. A fundamental principle of stakeholder theory is that businesses exist for more that profit maximization (Jones & Felps, 2013; Mishra & Mishra, 2013). Consequently, proponents of stakeholder theory reject the concept of owner-stakeholder separation (Purnell & Freeman, 2012) – a fundamental principle of agency theory.



For example, in their descriptive study, Harrison and Wicks (2013) sought to compare conventional agency approach to measuring financial performance to the stakeholder theory perspective of frim value. In their attempt to ascribe firm value from a stakeholders' perspective, Harrison and Wicks made the following assumptions. (a) stakeholder groups engagement with firms is dependent on other stakeholder groups, (b) stakeholder-firm engagement is dependent upon the utility received during their engagement, and (c) stakeholders associate utility with goods and services, affiliation, organizational justice, and opportunity costs. However, while conceptually these assumptions appear reasonable, Harrison and Wicks admitted to the difficulty with ascribing an accounting value to stakeholder utility in the absence of accounting guidance. Carlon and Downs (2014) opined that ascribing a financial value to stakeholder utility would resolve the contention. However, like Harrison and Wicks, Carlon and Downs study was thwarted with difficulties in accounting for stakeholder value in the absence of guidance form the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). An important observation is that neither Harrison and Wicks nor Carlon and Downs undertook an empirical approach to valuing stakeholder utility.

A broad spectrum of stakeholders has interests in the performance of NBFIs as per the tenets of stakeholder theory. Conversely, there is negative impact on the wellbeing of stakeholders when NBFIs are not profitable. Governments and the public are among the sundry stakeholders of NBFIs (Tashman & Raelin, 2013) – indicative of a social dimension. Consequently, stakeholder theory is a not a suitable conceptual framework for this study. Adopting stakeholder theory as the conceptual framework for



this study may result in solving a social welfare problem rather than a business problem. Moreover, the conflicting claims of various stakeholders is confounding to management (Minoja, 2012), complex in application (Carlon & Downs, 2014; Harrison & Wicks, 2013), and may lead to the pursuit of several contradictory objectives (Minoja, 2012). Given its social and moral dimensions (Purnell & Freeman, 2012), I rejected stakeholder theory as a suitable conceptual framework for this study.

Systems theory. A system refers to a group of organized and efficient elements that display resilience and a hierarchy of power or prominence in their interactions (Mangal, 2013). The various departments of financial institutions comprise a system – they are structured or organized toward the achievement of objectives under the guidance of a management hierarchy. Practitioners use systems theory to help explicate the interconnectedness of multidisciplinary challenges, and the existence of subsystems within systems (Hieronymi, 2013). Mangal (2013) applied systems theory to social networking while Olsen (2013) used systems theory to explain the distinction between industrial marketing and purchasing (IMP) theory and process theory. Researchers and practitioners have also applied systems theory to multiple disciplines including biology, sociology, technology, psychology (Hieronymi, 2013), as well as safety and security (Young & Leveson, 2014). Notwithstanding its multidisciplinary application, I rejected systems theory as a suitable conceptual framework for this study because of the lack of coherent concepts and definitions across disciplines – possibly due to its embryonic history, and its interdisciplinary fractionalization (Hieronymi, 2013).



Prior studies with Agency Theory as the Conceptual Framework

Researchers use agency theory to explicate several organizational phenomena. Miller and Sardais (2011) used agency theory as the theoretical underpinning for a single exploratory case study of the agency problem at Renault, a French car manufacturing company in the 1950s. Miller and Sardais propounded that there is duality to the agency problem. That is, that the owners, as opposed to agents, sometimes trigger and perpetuate the agency problem—a perspective rarely articulated in extant literature (Miller & Sardais, 2011). Mehrotra (2011), in a narrative study, opined that notwithstanding Miller and Sardais's corollary, that such examples of paragon agents do not dispute the underlying tenets of agency theory. While the views of Miller and Sardais and Mehrotra conflict, their perspectives are interesting relative to the purpose of this study.

Chen, Lu, & Sougiannis (2012) conducted a correlational analysis among a sample of S&P 1500 firms on agency theory from the perspective of corporate governance. Chen et al. concluded that corporate governance is a suitable means of mitigating the agency problem evidenced by businesses selling, general, and administrative expenses. Raelin and Bondy (2013) also conducted a study of agency theory from the perspective of corporate governance. Raelin and Bondy undertook their study using a qualitative approach, specifically a conceptual, narrative methodology. From the results of their study, Raelin and Bondy refuted that the resolution of the agency problem is resident with good corporate governance. Rather, Raelin and Bondy held the view that relative to corporate governance, the dichotomy of interest between owners and managers is unsupported. The corollary presented by Chen et al. and Raelin and Bondy



may be instructive in elucidating how agency issues influence strategies for maintaining profitability.

The prominence of the agency problem is also evident in the preponderance of corporate governance mechanisms managers of publicly traded companies use to achieve profitability (Misangyi & Acharya, 2014). Using an exploratory comparative case analysis of publicly traded S&P 1500 companies, Misangyi and Acharya (2014) sought insight into the efficacy of corporate governance mechanisms to resolve the agency problem relative to profitability. Specifically, Misangyi and Acharya employed fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analysis to inform the effective combination of corporate governance mechanisms to resolve the agency problem. The findings of Misangyi and Acharya may have bearings on the purpose of this study, should agency issues influence the strategies credit union managers employ to maintain profitability.

Other researchers including Du (2013), Mahaney and Lederer (2011), and Mustapha and Ayoib (2011) have undertaken empirical analysis of various phenomena with agency problem as their supporting conceptual framework. Du (2013) used agency theory as the theoretical underpinning for an empirical study to determine the relationship between religion and agency costs in China using cross-sectional data of 1,157 A-listed Chinese firms. Du found a negative correlation between religion and agency costs, especially among firms with external monitoring systems. The implication is that religion may possibly be a feasible way to curb unethical behavior among managers (Du, 2013).

Mahaney and Lederer also conducted an empirical study using agency theory as the conceptual framework. The goal of Mahaney and Lederer's study was to explain the



relevance of agency theory on the success of IT projects. To achieve the aforementioned goal, Mahaney and Lederer developed a structural equation model from data collected from a survey of 428 project managers and 65 sundry other team participants. From the results of their study, Mahaney and Lederer refuted the relevance of agency theory to the success of IT projects, but for information asymmetry and project monitoring. The results of Mahaney and Lederer's study has its relevance to this study relative to the preponderance of the applicability of agency theory as a conceptual framework for exploring business phenomena.

Mustapha and Ayoib (2011) undertook an empirical investigation of the effect of managerial ownership on agency costs in Malaysia. The sample for their study comprised 235 listed Malaysian companies except those in the finance sector, and the data sources were questionnaires and the annual reports (Mustapha & Ayoib, 2011). From the results of the study, Mustapha and Ayoib corroborated the presumption that there is an inverse relationship between managerial ownership and agency costs. From the results, these researchers were also able to affirm that the phenomenon of a managerial ownership and agency cost is also observable outside of western countries (Mustapha & Ayoib, 2011). The results of Mustapha and Ayoib's study is relevant to this study relative to the universality of agency problems as opined by Herculeous and Lan (2012).

With one empirical study, Yoo and Rhee (2013) found contradictory results for agency theory and research and development. The objective of Yoo and Rhee was twofold. One objective was to examine the effect of corporate governance and ownership on research and development, the results being consistent with agency theory (Yoo &

Rhee, 2013). The second objective was to examine the how governance and dividend rate affect firm investment in research and development (Yoo & Rhee, 2013). Using panel data for 100 listed Korean firms in regression models, these researchers affirmed the tenets of agency theory relative to capital and ownership structure and research and development (Yoo & Rhee, 2013). On the other hand, Yoo and Rhee refuted previous findings that agency theory was a suitable conceptual framework to explain governance, dividend rate, and research and development.

Mohammed (2013) developed a regression model using panel data to test the relationship between asset utilization and the capital structure of Nigerian firms from an agency perspective. Mohammed concluded that an inverse relationship exists between capital structure and agency cost. Based on the results, Mohammed posited that debt capital is an appropriate way to contain agency costs.

Tan and Lee (2015) used agency theory to develop a yardstick to measure customer loyalty towards financial services sales agents. They concluded from their study that a negative relationship exists between agency problems relative to goal, information, and risk asymmetry and customer loyalty, with risk asymmetry raking highest (Tan & Lee, 2015). Notwithstanding, Tan and Lee also found that the length of the relationship between customers and the financial sales agents reduces risk asymmetry. The results of Tan and Lee's study may bear relevance to this study relative to agency problems and the common bond that typifies the credit union environment.

Rashid (2015) conducted a quantitative study with the aim of examining how the attributes of the members of the board of directors may reduce agency cost among listed



Bangladesh companies. Among the attributes examined by Rashid using ordinary least square regression analysis were independence, size, advice on disciplinary measures, and CEO duality. Rashid employed three measures of agency costs — expense ratio, asset utilization ratio, and Q-free cash flow interaction. From the results of his study, Rashid concluded that the only board of directors attribute that reduces agency costs is the asset utilization ratio. Notwithstanding the results of his study, Rashid did not reject the legitimacy of board independence. The results of Rashid's study are consistent with the profit maximization tenets of agency theory (Clarke, 2014), and as such bears significance to this study on strategies for maintaining profitability.

In another study, Rashid (2016) examined the relationship between managerial ownership and agency cost among listed Bangladesh companies using ordinary least square regression analysis. For this study, Rashid used the same three measures of agency cost as in his 2015 study – expense ratio, asset utilization ratio, and Q-free cash flow interaction. From the results, Rashid held that managerial ownership reduces agency cost only when measured by the asset utilization ratio. From the results of Rashid's study I may garner useful insights on the managing agency costs as a strategy for maintaining credit union profitability in Grenada.

Hannafey and Vitulano (2013) undertook a narrative study to understand the nature of executive coaching relationships from an agency perspective. Upon exploring the literature, they opined that executive coaches have specific moral duties beyond usual professional ethics to their managerial participant and sponsoring organizations. Chief among these obligations are confidentiality, and contractual obligations between



themselves and the sponsoring organization. Hannafey and Vitulano concluded that agency theory could help explicate and provide insight as executive coaches continue to expand their contributions to business practice.

In a qualitative study conducted among privately held Australian companies, Hiebl (2015) explored the attitudes of salaried chief financial officers from the perspective of agency theory and stewardship theory. Hiebl held that managerial ownership reduces agency cost as measured by the asset utilization ratio. From an agency perspective, Hiebl also concluded that short-term managerial appointments exacerbate agency problems. The results of Hiebl's study are insightful re the suitability of agency theory to explicate multiplicity of managerial phenomena, including managing agency costs.

Agency theory and profitability. Several researchers including Berger and Di Patti (2006), Dawar (2014) have explored business profitability through the lens of agency theory. Specifically, Dawar investigated the impact of capital structure on the financial performance of Indian firms listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange using panel regression analysis. Dawar developed two regression models – one with ROA as the measure of profitability, and the other with ROE as the measure of profitability. Dawar's findings disproved the tenets of agency theory that managers of firms pursue the interest of their principals when debt is a part of the capital structure of firms. Dawar attributed the results of his empirical study to the peculiarities of the Indian bond market and the state-owned status of most banks in India. The findings of Dawar's study may be useful to me relative to elucidating peculiarities in Grenada that may influence the strategies



employed by credit union managers to maintain profitability.

Berger and Di Patti (2006) conducted an empirical investigation to confirm the relationship between capital structure and financial performance from an agency perspective. Specifically, they sought to investigate whether increasing leverage reduces agency costs and improve performance (Berger & Di Patti, 2006). Based on the results, they held that high leverage reduces agency costs and improves firm performance and profit efficiency because agency costs are embedded in capital structure and profitability (Berger & Di Patti, 2006). Berger and Di Patti's findings are consistent with the profit maximization tenet of agency theory (Clarke, 2014), and the importance of containing agency costs to further the profit maximization objective of shareholders (Raelin & Bondy, 2013).

Daskalakis, Eriotis, Thanou, and Vasiliou (2014) used agency theory as the theoretical framework for their empirical study on capital structure and small and medium enterprises (SMEs). Daskalakis et al.'s study bore similarity to that of Berger and Di Patti (2006), but that Daskalakis et al. subcategorized and distinguished between micro, small, and medium sized firms, while Berger and Di Patti's sample comprised of banks. The broad distinction in the sample used by Daskalakis et al. and the sample used by Berger and Di Patti is indicative of the broad applicability of agency theory to explicate phenomena.

Basu (2014) examined capital structure and firm value through the lens of agency theory. Managers with no equity interest in their firms lack motivation to pursue improved firm performance (Basu, 2014). Questionable however, is the relationship



between the structure of equity ownership, managers' pursuit of improved firm performance, and power dynamics (Basu, 2014). The inconclusive nature of Basu's study is not singular. Dawar (2014) also failed to explicate the subtleties of the capital structure and firm performance. The inconclusive results of Basu's and Dawar's studies may be insightful relative to the purpose of this exploratory case study on strategies for maintaining credit union profitability in Grenada.

Like Basu (2014), Berger & Di Patti (2006), Daskalakis et al. (2014), and Dawar (2014), Hull (2014) examined the impact of agency on the capital structure of firms.

Specifically, Hull (2014) examined wealth redistribution between equity holders and debt holders between whom there is a principal-agency relationship. Hull corroborated the findings of other researchers including Berger & Di Patti that increased leverage can reduce agency issues. Notwithstanding, while leverage increases firm value, strategically, managers ought to be cautious about the level and structure of debt financing (Hull, 2014), a perspective that may be insightful relative to the purpose of this study.

Credit Unions: An Overview

Credit unions are member-owned cooperatives at which members may access affordable financial services that share a common bond (Nembhard, 2013). That is, members share a common affiliation such as church, employer (Nembhard, 2013) or other attribute. Said differently, the structure of credit unions is such that the borrowers are also the owners (Jackson, 2014). Nembhard also noted that credit union members access loans at lower rates than at commercial banks, and earn higher interest on various savings accounts. Bauer (2015) opined that credit union managers overcome information

asymmetry via the common bond, which allows them access to information about creditworthiness by means that banks cannot. Ely (2014) held a similar view.

Notwithstanding the existence of the common bond, credit union managers adjudicate over the conflicting objectives of borrower-oriented members and saving-oriented members (Bauer, 2015).

Other notable characteristics of the credit union movement highlighted by

Nembhard are (a) strong balance sheets, (b) increasing profitability, (c) absence of
subprime lending, and (d) low delinquency rates. Jaseviciene, Kedaitis, & Vidzbelyte

(2014) cited (a) mutual assistance, (b) voluntarism, (c) democratic governance, (d) social
contribution, and (e) cooperation as distinguishing characteristics of credit unions.

Typically, the management of credit unions retain profits to improve their capital base or
to return wider interest spreads to their members (Pana, Vitzthum, & Willis, 2015).

Achieving and Maintaining Organizational Profitability – Nonfinancial Firms

Management gurus ground their strategies for achieving and maintaining organizational profitability in one of two philosophical perspectives – industrial organization economics or strategic management (Sarfaraz, Jenab, & Bowker, 2015). The distinction between the two philosophies is the significance of the contribution of managers to achieving and maintaining organizational profitability (Sarfaraz et al., 2015). Proponents of strategic management advocate that the contributions of managers is the single most influential factor driving profitability (Sarfaraz et al., 2015). On the other hand, advocates of industrial organization economics hold that within any industry, organizational characteristics – strengths and opportunities versus weaknesses and threats



– are the primary factors influencing profitability (Hirsch & Gschwandtner, 2013). The perspective of both schools of thought may be significant relative to the purpose of this exploratory case study of the strategies leaders of credit unions in Grenada employ to maintain profitability.

Keramidou, Mimis, Fotinopoulou, and Tassis (2013) undertook a quantitative study examine the relationship between technical efficiency and profitability among firms in the Greek meat processing industry using a performance decomposition model. From their findings, they concluded that a weak correlation exists between technical efficiency and profitability, and suggested that managers of Greek meat processing companies ought to pursue other profit-enhancing strategies (Keramidou, Mimis, Fotinopoulou, & Tassis, 2013). Among the profit-enhancing strategies recommended by Keramidou et al. (2013) are vertical integration, cost-reduction, organizational restructuring, and improved working capital management (Keramidou et al., 2013).

Parola, Satta, and Panayides (2015) undertook an empirical study using ordinary least squares regression to examine the profitability of maritime logistics companies. They gathered data from firms listed on the S&P Capital I-Q database using a two-stage procedure (Parola et al., 2015). From the results, Parola et al concluded that for maritime logistics firms, capital expenditure and investments, related diversification, vertical integration, and focus on core business operations were the strategic drivers of profitability.

Using seemingly unrelated regression analysis, Yazdanfar (2013) investigated the determinants of profitability among a sample of 87,000 observations from among 12,530



non-financial Swedish micro enterprises across four industries. From the results, Yazdanfar concluded the existence of a positive correlation between firm size, lagged profitability, productivity, and growth and profitability. They also purported that larger and younger firms tend to be more productive, and consequently more profitable, though with varying levels of heterogeneity across industries (Yazdanfar, 2013).

Working capital management is a strategy frequently employed by managers to obtain their objective of profit maximization (Singhania, Sharma, & Rohit, 2014). In a quantitative study of BSE-500 manufacturing companies on the Bombay Stock Exchange, Singhania, Sharma, and Rohit (2014) sought to examine the relationship between working capital management strategies and profitability. Singhania et al. also sought to examine the relationship between global economic recession and profitability. From their study, Singhania et al. concluded that while a negative relationship exists between the cash conversion cycle and profitability. On the other hand, managers can improve profitability by decreasing receivables days and increase payable days (Singhania et al., 2014). Singhania et al. also purported that managers should contemplate existing global macroeconomic conditions when devising their working capital management strategies.

Tauringana and Godfred (2013) conducted a similar study to Singhania et al.

(2014) to investigate the relationship between working capital management strategies and the profitability of SMEs. Using panel data regression analysis and survey data from 133 SMEs listed on the Alternative Investment Market, Tauringana and Godfred drew contrasting conclusions. From the panel data analysis results, Tauringana and Godfred



concluded that managers must focus their efforts on accounts receivables and accounts payables management, albeit, more heavily on accounts payables management. They went further and held that management of inventory and the cash conversion cycle are not important to SME profitability (Tauringana & Godfred, 2013). However, from the survey results, they opined that all components of working capital management – inventory, accounts payables, account receivables, and the cash conversion cycle – are important to SME profitability (Tauringana & Godfred, 2013).

As articulated above, Keramidou et al., Parola et al., Singhania et al., Tauringana and Godfred, and Yazdanfar are among the sundry researchers to have undertaken studies on the profitability of nonfinancial firms in various industries. The results of their respective studies vary relative to the factors that contribute to profitability. The results of their respective studies may be insightful to this exploratory case study on strategies for maintaining the profitability of credit unions in Grenada vis-à-vis the themes that may resonate.

Profitability of Financial Institutions

Researchers have examined the determinants of profitability of financial institutions with varied results (Alalaya & Al Khattab, 2015; Obamuyi, 2013). Academic literature is proliferate with studies on banks (Khandoker et al., 2013). Despite the importance of NBFIs to economic development (Ofoeda et al., 2012), there are fewer studies on NBFIs (Khandoker et al., 2013), particularly credit unions (De Carvalho et al., 2015; Robin & Wollan, 2012). Among the factors researchers have identified as contributing to the profitability of financial institutions are (a) credit risk (Capraru &



Ihnatov, 2015), (b) interest rate (Alalaya & Al Khattab, 2015), (c) size and operational efficiency (Ani, Ugwunta, Ezeudu, & Ugwunyi, 2012; Obamuyi, 2013), (d) capital (Obamuyi, 2013), and (e) liquidity (Ahmad, Nafees, & Khan, 2012).

Profitability of nonbank financial institutions. Capital consolidation through mergers and acquisitions is among the strategies used by leaders of NBFIs to avert closure due to poor financial performance (Goddard, McKillop, & Wilson, 2014).

Nonetheless, little academic literature exists on the profitability of NBFIs compared to their banking counterparts (De Carvalho et al., 2015). Among the authors to examine profitability at NBFIs are Khandoker et al. (2013). Using secondary data from 22 purposively selected NBFIs, Khandoker et al. conducted correlation and regression analysis to determine the factors that affect the profitability of NBFIs in Bangladesh. From the results, Khandoker et al. found that there is a positive relationship between profitability of NBFIs and total assets, total liabilities, net worth, and operating revenue. On the other hand, a significant inverse relationship exists between profitability, operating expenses, and term deposits (Khandoker et al., 2013). Overall, Khandoker et al. concluded that liquidity is the primary determinant of profitability among NBFIs.

Sakyi et al. (2014) were among the few authors to examine the determinants of profitability of NBFIs. These researchers built a regression model in which financial performance as a composite of ROE and ROA was the dependent variable (Sakyi et al., 2014). The sample comprised 42 of 48 NBFIs registered with the Bank of Ghana. From the results of their study, Sakyi et al. opined that in Ghana, the financial performance of NBFIs is positively related to interest rate, inflation, leverage, size, GDP, and risk. The

composite model for measuring profitability put forward by Sakyi et al. is in stark contrast with regression models developed by other researchers discussed earlier. Researchers such as Aduda and Gitonga (2011), Poudel (2012), and Kargi (2014) among others deliberated earlier developed regression models that measured profitability either by ROE or by ROA. Other researchers such as Abbas et al. (2014) and Alshatti (2015) presented two regression models – ROA and ROE to measure profitability, but no composite regression models.

Credit Risk and Profitability

The profitability of financial institutions and the management of credit risk are inseparable phenomena as empirically proven by Gizaw, Kebede, and Selvaraj (2015) and Poudel (2012) among others. Credit risk and profitability are inseparable issues because loans comprise the largest category of assets in financial institutions (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012), ranging between 50%-75% of total assets (Karaa & Krichene, 2012). Sakyi et al. (2014) argued that credit risk is an enthralling issue facing NBFIs; of which NPLs is an important element (Haneef et al., 2012). Return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE) are popular measures of business profitability. Gizaw et al. used panel regression analysis to explore the relationship between credit risk and profitability using two models. Gizaw et al. measured profitability with one model using return on assets (ROA) and using return on equity (ROE) with the other model. Gizaw et al. chose capital adequacy ratio (CAR), loans and advances to total deposit ratio (LTDR), and loan loss provision (LLPR) as their credit risk parameters. Gizaw et al. sourced data from the audited financial statements of 18 commercial banks operating in Ethiopia. From the

results of their regression analysis Gizaw et al. opined a negative relationship between credit risk and profitability as measured by ROA, but a positive relationship when measured by ROE.

The results of the study conducted by Gizaw et al. (2015) were consistent with the findings of the study conducted by Poudel (2012) in Nepal in respect of profitability measured by ROA. Poudel used secondary data for his regression analysis from 31 commercial banks operating in Nepal; the variables being cost per loan asset (CLA), capital adequacy ratio (CAR), and default rate (DR). Poudel found an inverse relationship between profitability as measured by ROA and all three independent variables, though the relationship between ROA and CLA was not statistically significant. In fact, DR, as an indicator of credit risk, was the single most significant contributor to the profitability of banks in Nepal (Poudel, 2012).

Aduda and Gitonga (2011) undertook a generalized least squares regression analysis of the effect of credit risk on the profitability of commercial banks in Keyna using primary and secondary data. Aduda and Gitonga's sample comprised 30 of 44 commercial banks, and the data spanned the 10-year period 2000-2009. Aduda and Gitonga's regression model comprised one dependent variable – nonperforming loan ratio, and ROE was the measure of profitability. From the results of the regression analysis, Aduda and Gitonga concluded that a negative relationship exists between credit risk and profitability.

Kargi (2014) also found a negative relationship between credit risk and profitability in Nigeria. Using a panel data set for six banks from 2004-2008 obtained



from annual reports, Kargi tested the data using correlation and ordinary least square multiple regression. Kargi's measure of profitability was ROA while the proxies for credit risk were the ratio of loans to total deposits, and the ratio of non-performing loans to total loans.

Among the other researchers who found inverse relationships between credit risk and profitability are Musyoki and Kadubo (2012), Nawaz et al. (2012), and Yahaya, Lamidi, Kutigi, and Ahmed (2015). Musyoki and Kadubo randomly sampled 10 of 48 found that banks in Kenya, and used secondary data to conduct a regression analysis for the period 2000-2006. Like many other researchers, Musyoki and Kadubo used ROA to measure profitability. The independent variables in Musyoki and Kadubo's regression equation were default rate, bad debt cost, and cost per loan asset. All three independent variables negatively affect profitability, but only default rate was statistically significant (Musyoki & Kadubo, 2012). The results of Musyoki and Kadubo's study and Poudel (2012) were consistent relative to the relationship between default rate and cost per loan asset and profitability.

Nawaz et al. (2012) extracted time series and cross sectional data from the annual reports of six of 24 listed Nigerian Banks over the period 2004-2008, and formulated an ordinary least square multiple regression equation. Nawaz et al. measured profitability using ROA while the ratio of nonperforming loans to total loans and the ratio of total loans to total deposits were the indicators of credit risk. Nawaz et al. concluded that a significant inverse relationship exists between profitability and credit risk, and consequently, management must be cautious when establishing credit policies.



Not all researchers have found a negative relationship between credit risk and profitability. Boahene, Dasah, and Agyei (2012) conducted a regression analysis using secondary data from six commercial banks in Ghana using return on equity (ROE) as the proxy for profitability. From the results of their study, Boahene et al. purported a positive correlation between credit risk and profitability. The results of a panel data regression analysis conducted by Kolapo et al. (2012) using secondary data for five of 20 commercial banks in Nigeria over 2000-2010 was cross-sectional invariant. Specifically, the relationship between two independent variables – non-performing loans and loan loss provision and profitability is negative, but positive between total loans and profitability (Kolapo et al., 2012). Kolapo et al. (2012) used ROA as a measure of profitability.

Kayode, Obamuyi, Owoputi, and Adeyefa (2015) also found mixed results for their empirical study in Nigeria. Using an unbalanced panel of six banks over 14 years from 2000-2013, Kayode et al. built a regression model with ROA as the independent variable. Nonperforming loans to total loans ratio, loan loss provision to total assets ratio, and total loan to total assets ratio were the dependent variables in Kayode et al's model. Like Boahene et al. (2012) and Kolapo et al. (2012), Kayode et al found nonperforming loans and loan loss provision as highly significant coefficients that negatively impact profitability. Consistent with the findings of Boahene et al., and Kolapo et al., but contrary with the findings of Kargi (2014), Kayode et al found a positive relationship between total loans and profitability.

In contrast, Kurawa and Garba (2014) used secondary data for banks on the Nigerian stock exchange and conducted a generalized least squares regression analysis to



test the effect of credit risk on profitability. Like Poudel (2012), the proxy for profitability was ROA, and the independent variables were default risk (DR), cost per loan asset (CLA), and capital adequacy ratio (CAR). The model included two control variables – AGE and LOAN. Age referred to the length of listing in years on the Nigerian stock exchange, and loan to the total facilities extended by the bank (Kurawa & Garba, 2014). The results of Kurawa and Garba's study contradicted the findings of Poudel (2012). That is, the results of Kurawa and Garba's generalized least squares regression revealed a positive relationship between the independent variables (DR, CLA, and CAR) and the control variable, LOAN and profitability. The results of Kurawa and Garba's study was consistent with the results of the regression analysis conducted by Boahene et al. (2012) in Ghana.

In Taiwan, Chen and Pan (2012) used data envelopment analysis (DEA) to assess the credit risk efficiency and profitability at 34 commercial bank over 2005-2008. Specifically, Chen and Pan obtained sample data from annual reports and the Taiwan Economic Journal. The output proxies for profitability used by Chen and Pan were earnings per share, average profit per employee, return on equity, return on asset, and return on tier 1 capital (Chen & Pan, 2012). Chen and Pan used three financial ratios to evaluate credit risk – ratio of total loans to total assets, ratio of overdue loans to total loans, and total loans to deposit ratio. The impact of credit risk efficiency on profitability varied across the sample, with overall low credit risk efficiency against profitability for the sample, but for one bank (Chen & Pan, 2012).

In Jordan, Alshatti (2015) examined the effects of credit risk on the performance



of commercial banks over nine years from 2005-2013 using panel regression analysis. Alshatti developed two regression models. One model measured profitability by ROA and the other measured profitability by ROE. The independent variables for both models were non-performing loans to total loans, provision for facilities loss to net facilities, leverage, capital adequacy ratio, and credit interest to credit facilities ratio (Alshatti, 2015). Alshatti found mixed results to the regression analysis. In respect of leverage and provision for facilities loss to net facilities, there is negative relationship to profitability as measured by ROA and ROE (Alshatti, 2015). However, a positive relationship exists between non-performing loans to total loans and profitability, and no relationship exists between capital adequacy and credit interest to credit facilities ratio on profitability (Alshatti, 2015).

Like Alshatti (2015) in Jordon, Abbas, Zaidi, Ahmad, and Ashraf (2014) found mixed results to their fixed effect panel data regression analysis from among 21 randomly sampled banks in Pakistan. Abbas et al. tested two regression models – one that measured profitability by ROA and the other measured profitability by ROE. Each model had three independent variables – ratio of non-performing loans to total loans, total loans to deposit ratio, and loan loss provision to total classified loans (Abbas et al., 2014). For both models, negative correlation exists between non-performing loans and profitability, and likewise for loan loss provisions and profitability (Abbas et al., 2014). However, for both models, a positive correlation exists between total loans and profitability (Abbas et al., 2014). The results of Abbas et al.'s study are consistent with that of Kayode et al. (2015) and Kolapo et al. (2012). Noteworthy is that the study population for the research



undertaken by Kayode et al. and Kolapo et al. were Nigerian commercial banks.

Ogboi and Unuafe (2013) conducted an empirical study to investigate the impact of credit risk and capital adequacy on the performance of commercial banks in Nigeria. Using time series and cross-sectional secondary data from 2004-2009, Ogboi and Unuafe developed a panel data model for ROA with three dependent variables – non-performing loans, total loans, and loan loss provision. The data sample comprised six of 21 banks operating in Nigeria as at December 2009 (Ogboi & Unuafe, 2013). From the results of their study, Ogboi and Unuafe postulated a significant positive relationship between profitability and loan loss provision, and a significant negative relationship between total loans and profitability. Non-performing loans negatively impacts profitability, but its impact was statistically insignificant (Ogboi & Unuafe, 2013). The results of Ogboi and Unuafe's study were inconsistent with that of two other empirical Nigerian studies. That is, that of Kayode et al. (2015) and Kolapo et al. (2012). Comparatively, Ogboi and Unuafe's study results were consistent with that of Kargi (2014) and Gizaw et al. (2015) in respect of the relationship between total loans and profitability.

Berrios (2013) examined the relationship between credit risk and liquidity on profitability using regression analysis from a sample of 40 state-owned commercial banks on the Mergent Online database. Secondary data comprised Berrios' data set. Berrios' used a composite measure for profitability that comprised ROA, ROE, cash flow to total assets, and net interest margin. Berrios proposed six independent variables, of which less prudence was the primary independent variable from a credit risk perspective measured by provisions for loan loss. From the results there is an inverse relationship between



credit risk and profitability (Berrios, 2013).

Credit risk strategies. Given the correlation between credit risk and the profitability of financial institutions, the development and use of credit risk strategies is integral in maintaining profitability. Mokni, Echchabi, and Mohamed (2013) conducted an empirical study to explore risk management strategies among Tunisian commercial banks. Risk managers from 16 of 29 banks facilitated Mokni et al. by completing a questionnaire. Data analysis was by way of descriptive statistics, one sample t-test, and the Friedman test (Mokni et al., 2013). Mokni et al. concluded that at Tunisian commercial banks, the primary credit risk strategies used by risk managers to mitigate credit risks are collateral and guarantees.

Mokni, Echchabi, Azouzi, and Rachdi (2014) conducted a quantitative study using descriptive statistics on risk management strategies used at Islamic banks in the Middle Eastern and North Africa region. From the results of their study, Mokni et al. concluded that at Islamic banks, risk managers use a combination of approaches to credit risk. Relative to assessing credit risk, the most common approaches are exposure at default, loss given default, and probability of default (Mokni et al., 2014). Collateral and guarantees are the most frequently used techniques for mitigating credit risk (Mokni et al., 2014). Notwithstanding, asset securitization and credit derivatives, on-balance sheet netting, off-balance sheet netting, syndication, and participation are among the nontraditional credit risk mitigation methods used by risk managers at Islamic banks (Mokni et al., 2014).

Nazir, Daniel, and Nawaz (2012) compared credit risk practices among



ANOVA. From the results of their study, Nazir et al. concluded that no difference exists between credit risk techniques used at conventional versus Islamic banks in Pakistan but for the monitoring of credit risk. Comparatively, Hussain and Al-Ajmi (2012) found no significant difference in the credit risk practice of Islamic and conventional banks in Bahrain, but for the impact of Sharia on credit risk. Given the presence of Sharia risk, at Islamic banks credit risk sharing, as opposed to collateralization is among the techniques for managing credit risk (Hussain & Al-Ajmi, 2012).

Al Ali and Naysary (2014) conducted a qualitative study among risk managers at Islamic banks in Kuwait. These researchers had as their objectives exploring and identifying the risk management practices employed at Islamic banks versus conventional banks. Al Ali and Naysary concluded from the results of their thematic analysis that Islamic banks in Kuwait employ the same measures as employed at conventional banks to mitigate credit risk. That is, collateralization is the primary means of mitigating credit risks (Al Ali & Naysary, 2014); contrary to the findings of Hussain and Al-Ajmi (2012).

Yasin (2014) conducted a quantitative study to ascertain if differences exist in risk management strategies at conventional versus Islamic banks in Pakistan. From among a sample of 150 risk managers, credit officers, and branch managers, Yasin ascertained that Islamic and conventional banks face similar risks, including credit risk. From the results of his study, Yasin concluded that no significant difference exists in the strategies employed at Islamic versus conventional banks.



Interest rate and Profitability

Kar and Swain (2014) examined the profitability of microfinance institutions using a global database of 379 microfinance institutions in 71 countries and found a positive correlation between interest rates and profitability. Trujillo-Ponce (2013) conducted a study on the determinants of profitability of Spanish banks and found differently. Trujillo-Ponce hypothesized a negative relationship between interest rate and profitability. Using ordinary least squares regression analysis to assess a sample of banks in Spain, Trujillo-Ponce accepted the hypothesis of a negative relationship between interest rate and profitability. The results of Trujillo-Ponce's study is in contravention to the findings of Kar and Swain, though notably, Trujillo-Ponce studied the interest rate-profitability relationship among banks as opposed to Kar and Swain's study on microfinance institutions.

Roberts (2013) examined the correlation between interest rate and profitability of microfinance institutions with a for-profit orientation. Roberts' sample comprised 358 of the 490 for-profit microfinance institutions as found in the MIX Market database as at 2009. Comparatively, Kar and Swain (2014) in their study of interest rate and profitability used a similarly sized sample from a global database. The notable difference between the samples being that Kar and Swain did not differentiate their sample based on profit orientation. From the results of his study, Roberts concluded that a positive, but statistically insignificant relationship exists between interest rate and profitability of for-profit microfinance institutions.



Size, Operational Efficiency, and Profitability

While researchers have come to different conclusions about the relationship between size and profitability (Dahmash, 2015), there is overwhelming support of a positive relationship (Abiodun, 2013; Dogan, 2013; Nijjar, 2013; Rasiah, Tong, & Kim, 2014). Size is an important contributing factor to financial performance because of the benefits of economies of scale (De Carvalho et al., 2015). According to Goddard et al. (2014), economies of scale is inseparable from operational efficiency and profitability. A positive relationship between size and profitability occurs across industries and across jurisdictions. Rasiah, Tong, and Kim (2014) tested the correlation between size and profitability in the Malaysian construction industry using regression analysis, and confirmed the existence of a positive relationship. The results of Abiodun's (2013) study relate to Nigerian manufacturing companies and Dogan's (2013) study to a cross section of over 200 companies on the Instanbul Stock Exchange.

The discussion on the relationship between size and profitability holds true for financial institutions. Nijjar (2013) concluded from his empirical study of banks in Bahrain that a positive correlation exists between size, operational efficiency, and profitability. A positive relationship between size and profitability also exists among NBFIs. From the results of their empirical study, Robin and Wollan (2012) held the view of Goddard et al. (2014) relative to size, economies of scale, and profitability. Robin and Wollan went further using empirical evidence to support mergers and acquisitions as an appropriate strategy to maintain the profitability of credit unions without incurring higher agency costs.



Nago, Ly, and Mullineux (2014) also empirically prove the relationship between size and profitability for microfinance organizations – a category of NBFIs. Having subcategorized NBFIs microfinance organizations into small, medium, and large, Nago et al. concluded that a positive relationship between size and profitability among large NBFIs microfinance organizations. Like Robin and Wollan (2012), Nago et al. supported mergers and acquisitions between small NBFIs microfinance organizations as a strategy for achieving the benefits of size and profitability.

Advertising, Promotion and Profitability

Competition among businesses occupies the attention of business leaders.

Consequently, attracting the attention of consumers is paramount. Promotion is a key element of the marketing mix for gaining the attention of a differentiated niche of consumers using advertising, publicity, and other tactics (Adefulu, 2015). An organization's promotional strategy therefore comprises a number of tactics for gaining the attention of consumers, advertising being just one such tactic (Adefulu, 2015).

Having undertaken a survey among 220 marketing professional at the Nigerian Bottling Company and Seven-Up Bottling Company in Nigeria, Adefulu concluded that advertising as a promotional strategy had statistically significant impact on profitability.

Adefulu's findings also resonated with that of Mokhtar and Wan-Ismail (2012) who used Mann-Whitney U Test and Chi-Square to test confirm the relationship between advertising and promotion and profitability.

Liquidity and Profitability

Rehman, Khan, and Khokhar (2015) posited that the sustainability of businesses and liquidity are inseparable issues. Among companies listed Saudi Arabian Stock Exchange, excluding banks, a positive relationship exists between liquidity and profitability (Rehman, Khan, and Khokhar, 2015) Likewise, Nworji and Alayemi (2014) found a positive relationship between liquidity and profitability among companies in the cement industry in Nigeria. The results of these two studies were the same notwithstanding the marked difference in the size of the samples used. Nworji and Alayemi's sample comprised of the four cement listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange as at October 2013. On the other hand, Rehman et al.'s sample comprised 99 companies listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange between 2008 and 2012. Similarly, Award and Jayyar (2013) found a positive relationship between liquidity and profitability from among a sample of 11 Palestinian manufacturing firms. Sufian (2012) also found a significant positive relationship between liquidity and profitability among a sample of 77 South Asian banks.

In similar vein, other researchers have found a positive relationship between liquidity and profitability of financial institutions. Alshatti, (2014) found positive correlation between liquidity and profitability among Jordanian commercial banks, likewise Ibe (2013) among two of three randomly selected banks in Nigeria. Lartey, Antwi, and Boadi (2013) also determined a positive relationship exists between liquidity and profitability from a sample of seven of nine banks listed on the Ghana Stock Exchange. Respectively, the studies by Alshatti, Ibe, and Lartey et al. shared a common



methodological approach, though their sample size and geographical location of their studies differed. All three studies used regression analysis to test the association between liquidity and profitability.

Capital and Profitability

Capital refers to the combination of debt and equity used to finance the assets of organization (Kahuria & Waweru, 2015). Inadequate capital is a primary cause of business failure (Aremu, Ekpo, Mustapha, & Adedoyin, 2013). Miana and Ishmail (2014) purported that management's decision on the combination of debt and equity affects the financial performance of the organizations they lead. The matter of agency costs arises in the discussion on capital structure and the profitability of firms (Ganguli, 2013). Gupta (2015) concluded from his regression analysis the 870 companies with foreign promoters listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange that debt has a negative impact on profitability. Kahuria and Waweru (2015) drew the same conclusion from the results of their descriptive survey of all 49 firms listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange. Miana and Ishmail also examined the relationship between capital and profitability among firms listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange but used panel regression analysis to test their hypothesis. Like Kahuria and Waweru, Miana and Ishmail confirmed a negative relationship between capital and profitability. Norvaisiene (2012) also found a negative relationship after his multivariate regression analysis of 70 listed Baltic companies.

The results of empirical studies of the relationship between capital structure and profitability of financial institutions are contrary to the results of the studies aforementioned. Obamuyi (2013) found capital to positively correlated to the profitability



of the 20 Nigerian Banks in existence in 2012; likewise Ukaegbu and Oino (2014) who also studied Nigerian listed financial institutions. Capital is the foundation of financial institutions being the primary source of liquidity, credit, and buffer against losses; hence the positive relationship between capital and the profitability of financial institutions (Aremu et al., 2013).

Transition

Financial intermediation is an important component in the economic development of countries (Bhatia et al., 2012), in respect of which NBFIs are key players, especially in developing countries (Ofoeda et al., 2012). De Carvalho et al. (2015) posited that credit unions are an important category of NBFIs. Notwithstanding, few researchers have studied credit unions (De Carvalho et al., 2015; Robin & Wollan, 2012), despite the high rate of closure of credit unions (De Carvalho et al., 2015). With this study, I explored the strategies leaders of credit unions use to maintain profitability. I employed a multiple exploratory case approach to this study, the conceptual framework for which was agency theory.

In Section 2, I present a recap of the purpose of this study, an outline of the researcher's role throughout research process including gaining access to participants and ethical considerations. Other key elements that detailed in Section 2 are (a) the suitability of a qualitative case study to answering the research questions, (b) sample selection, (c) data collection, organization, and analysis, and (d) matters relevant to achieving data reliability and validity.



In Section 3, I present a brief introduction of the purpose of this study and summary of its findings. This I follow with a detailed discourse and presentation of the findings in relation to the themes that emerged during the study and relevance to the conceptual framework. I interlace my presentation of the findings with a discussion on whether the findings confirm, disconfirm, or extend the discipline as per peer-reviewed studies since completing the literature review. I also present a commentary on the relevance of the findings to effective business practice, implications for social change, and make recommendations for action and further research. I conclude Section 3 with a commentary on my reflections throughout the DBA Doctoral Study process, followed by brief concluding remarks.

Section 2: The Project

With this study, I explored the strategies leaders of credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability. This study was relevant given the importance of NBFIs to economic development, especially in developing countries (Ofoeda et al., 2012). I used a multiple, exploratory case study to answer the research question. Leaders of NBFIs may be able to use the results of this study to reevaluate the strategies they use to maintain profitability (Moll, 2014), and consequently inform the development of new strategies for maintain profitability.

In respect of the structure of this section, I present a restatement of the purpose of this study followed by an overview of the role of the researcher in the research process. Thereafter is a discussion on the research participants including sample selection, strategies for gaining access to the research participants, establishing relationships, protection of participants, and data retention. A discussion of the research method and research design then follows. The commentary in this section also includes ethical considerations, data collection, data organization, and data analysis. In respect of ethical considerations, there is a full discourse on participant consent, withdrawal, incentives, and protection of rights of participants. Other pertinent research issues addressed in this section are research reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this multiple qualitative case study was to explore strategies that credit unions leaders in Grenada, namely directors and managers, use to maintain profitability. The targeted population for this study comprised directors and managers of



licensed credit unions operating in Grenada. The implication for positive social change includes the aversion of contagion, moral hazard (Ofoeda et al., 2012), and negative economic growth (Liang & Reichert, 2012) through the maintenance of financially sound credit unions.

Role of the Researcher

The role of a qualitative researcher is to develop oneself as the research instrument (Pezalla, Pettigrew, & Miller-Day, 2012) for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and interpreting data consistent with the underpinnings of the study (Xu & Storr, 2012). In this regard, I developed and administered the interview questions used during the data collection stage of this study, and recorded each interview. I was therefore the principal data collection tool as advocated by Draper and Swift (2011). Role declaration engenders the confidence of the participants in the research process (Nolen & Talbert, 2011).

I did not have personal or professional relationships with the research participants prior to conducting this study. While I have never worked at a credit union in Grenada, at the time I conducted this study, I worked in the banking industry in commercial credit. My duties as a banker included assessing loan applications, pricing loan facilities, assigning credit risk ratings, approving loans, monitoring the performance of the commercial loan portfolio, and preparing regulatory reports. At the time of conducting this study, I was also involved in the formation and implementation of strategies for growing the bank's profits. I therefore understood how in my capacity, I contributed to the profitability of the bank. I was cognizant therefore of the possibility of the



participants tailoring their responses to the interview questions given on my professional background.

The National Commissions for the Protection of Humans Subjects and Behavioral Research recommended key considerations for the conduct of ethical research involving humans in the Belmont Report (National Institutes of Health, 1979). In keeping with the recommendations outlined in the Belmont Report, I observed the principles of beneficence, justice, and respect for all persons (National Institutes of Health, 1979). I exemplified my adherence to the principles of the Belmont Report through (a) informed consent, (b) a balance between research risks and benefits, (c) confidentiality, and (d) noncoercive recruitment of research participants (Fisher, 2011).

In an attempt to mitigate bias, I conducted a self-assessment as recommended by Draper and Swift (2011). Malone, Nicholl, and Tracey (2014) also suggested self-scrutiny and bias clarification as bias mitigation measures. Additionally, as advocated by Jacob and Furgerson (2012), I used an interview protocol (see Appendix B) to mitigate my biases such as the likelihood of failing to thoroughly inquiry of the interview participants (Chenail, 2011b). My other reasons for using an interview protocol were to (a) help develop rapport with the participants, (b) remind me of critical information I needed to elicit during the interview process and, (c) remind me to advise the participants of subsequent contact to clarify information, ask additional questions, and perform member checking (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012).



Participants

The study participants were holders of at least one of three leadership positions at one of the 12 licensed credit unions in Grenada. Specifically, each participant was either a (a) member of the board of directors, (b) member of a subcommittee of the board of directors, or (c) holder of a managerial or supervisory position at a licensed credit union. Participants meeting either one or combination of these eligibility criteria were actively engaged in strategy formulation, implementation, or execution at their respective credit unions. Consequently, they would each understand the phenomenon of interest.

Nagler, Ramanadhan, Minsky, and Viswanath (2013) and Newington and Metcalfe (2014) discussed several approaches to gaining access to participants including flyers, print, audio or audio-visual media. However, I used none of these approaches. Rather, I gained initial access via letters of invitation sent to the manager, managing director or other senior manager of credit unions. My approach was consistent with Marshall and Rossman's (2016) recommended approach of making initial contact through senior organizational personnel. Jessiman (2013) referred to senior organizational personnel as gatekeepers because they have the authority to approve or deny access to the participants. In my letters of invitation I (a) introduced myself as a doctoral candidate, (b) explained the purpose, benefits, and risks of participating in the envisioned study, (c) discussed when and where the interviews will be conducted, and (d) discussed the participants' eligibility criteria (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I sent out the letters of invitation and consent forms by email. I required each gatekeeper to confirm their approval to access the participants by signing a letter of cooperation (copy in



Appendix A) in hard copy, or electronically. Similarly, each participant had to confirm their participation by signing the consent form in hard copy, or electronically via return email by typing *I consent*. Bloswick and Skowron (2015) and Ochieng (2012) advocated giving research partners and participants time to cogitate their willingness to participate after having received information on a proposed study. Notwithstanding, in respect of the gatekeepers that did not respond within 2 weeks of dispatch of the letters of invitation, I placed a follow up call.

I also used an interview protocol to establish a working relationship with the participants. Rabionet (2011) argued that qualitative researchers use interview protocols to make communicating with participants easier. Upon receiving approval to access the participants, I meet with each participant either face-to-face, via teleconference, or video conference to share more the research topic and my professional experience. Easterling & Johnson (2015) propounded on the efficacy of preinterview discussions for building trust and gaining the confidence of study participants, as did Jacob and Furgerson (2012).

Research Method and Design

Three research methodologies exist – qualitative, quantitative, and mixed; none of which is superior to the other (Lauckner, Paterson, & Krupa, 2012). However, the research question, purpose of the study, and context are suggestive of methodology (Lauckner et al., 2012). Qualitative researchers seek to explore (Bailey, 2014), context-based phenomena from a human perspective (Arghode, 2012), while quantitative researchers use statistical procedures to correlate or nullify causality (Arghode, 2012;



Nolen & Talbert, 2011). Mixed methods researchers utilize a hybrid approach to uncover new phenomena (Golicic & Davis, 2012).

Research Method

The research methodology used for this study was qualitative. I chose a qualitative methodology because a qualitative approach was best suited to the exploratory purpose of this study. That is, qualitative methodologies are exploratory and inductive in nature while quantitative research is deductive in nature (Ingham-Broomfield, 2015). Further, a qualitative approach allowed me to incorporate social, cultural, and other context specific variables into the exploration of the phenomenon of interest, rather than correlate or nullify such influences (Arghode, 2012; Nolen & Talbert, 2011). Said differently, qualitative research is context driven (Yilmaz, 2013) and exploratory (Bailey, 2014; Ingham-Broomfield, 2015). The purpose of this study was exploratory and the phenomenon of interest was specific to credit unions in Grenada. As such, a qualitative methodology was befitting of the purpose and context of this study (Lauckner et al., 2012).

Quantitative researchers use statistical techniques to establish causality and generalize findings to the study population or future event (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). I did not seek to establish causality or generalize the finding of this study; hence, a quantitative methodology was unsuited to this study. A mixed methodological approach was inappropriate for this study because of the quantitative element. Additionally, mixed methodologies are better suited to unveiling new phenomenon with unknown variables (Golicic & Davis, 2012).



Research Design

Yin (2014) described five qualitative research designs: case studies, ethnography, narrative studies, grounded theory, and phenomenology. The qualitative design I chose for this study was a case study, specifically, a multiple, exploratory case study. I chose a case study design because Yin's definition of case studies aptly described the purpose and context of this study. That is, case studies are in-depth exploration of observed phenomena, processes, or events, bounded by time, activities, or other contextual conditions (Yin, 2014). Having chosen a case study design, I was able to collect data from multiple sources to gain a better understanding of the phenomenon of interest (Lalor et al., 2013; Moll, 2014; Yin, 2014). My other reasons for having selected a case study design included its suitability for (a) exploring contemporary practices as opposed to well-understood phenomena (Baskarada, 2014), (b) unveiling pioneering concepts in the field of management (Mariotto et al., 2014), (c) evaluating and transforming business practices (Moll, 2014) and, (d) promoting organizational learning (Baskarada, 2014).

Qualitative researchers who undertake narrative studies utilize storytelling as a means of inquiring into the lives and experiences of individuals (Dailey & Browning, 2014). Consequently, a narrative study was not an appropriate approach to this study because storytelling would not have aided my exploration of the phenomenon of interest. An ethnographical approach was unsuited to this study because researchers use ethnographies to make inferences about cultural groups – that is, groups with shared behaviors, beliefs, or language (Chenail, 2011a). Grounded theory was not the design of choice for this study because researchers use grounded theory to develop new theories



from systematically collected research data (Gonzalez-Teruel & Abad-Garcia, 2012; Mitchell, 2014). The purpose of this study is exploratory, not the development of a new theory. As such, grounded theory is unsuited to a Doctorate in Business Administration program. Phenomenology is an inductive research approach predicated on the experiences of persons who can comprehensively describe their experience (Chenail, 2011a; Toloie-Eshlaghy et al., 2011; Tuohy, Cooney, Dowling, Murphy, & Sixsmith, 2013; Miner-Romanoff, 2012). A phenomenological approach may have been a suitable alternative approach to this study. However, phenomenological design would have restricted my data collection to interviews (Pienkos, 2014).

I ensured data saturation by interviewing sufficient participants from the study population until no new concepts or themes emerged (O'Reilly & Parker, 2012; Sargeant, 2012). Specifically, I conducted and analyzed the data for each interview concurrently in order to document new themes and decide on the need to recruit additional participants. Among the qualitative researchers who advocated this approach were Lee, Moles, & Chaar (2015); Legenne, Chirac, Ruer, Reix, and Fibet (2015); and Sargeant (2012). I also used member checking as a data saturation mechanism by ensuring that the themes that emerged from the data collection process resonated with all the participants as recommended by Peake-Andrasik et al. (2014).

Population and Sampling

I used a sample of six participants from among the leaders of the 12 licensed credit unions in Grenada. Purposive sampling was the basis of my sample selection. I opted for purposive sampling because qualitative researchers do not justify their sample



size using probabilistic techniques (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). Rather, qualitative researchers use nonprobabilistic, inductive approaches to sampling (Robinson, 2014). Further, I did not need theoretical underpinning to support my sample size (Tongco, 2007). Draper and Swift (2011) argued that purposively selected samples could comprise single digit numbers. Large sample sizes are atypical of qualitative research (Fakis, Hilliam, Stoneley, & Townend, 2014). Importantly, having used purposive sampling I was able to obtain rich, in-depth information from a small number of participants based on their expertise and knowledge (Draper & Swift, 2011).

A purposively selected sample of six participants was suitable for obtaining rich, in-depth information for this study given that the targeted population comprised 12 licensed credit unions. Though I proposed a sample of six participants, I was prepared to recruit additional participants as required to ensure data saturation as recommended by O'Reilly and Parker (2012). However, I did not need to recruit additional participants because I was able to achieve data saturation with the initially proposed sample size of six. I also used member checking – a technique frequently used to establish rigor – to ensure data saturation by confirming that the same themes resonated with all the participants (Peake-Andrasik et al., 2014).

The eligibility criteria I outlined earlier under the subsection *Participants* were appropriate for this study because the participants were able to share in-depth information based on their professional experience. I conducted telephone interviews with the participants in their work environment. The work environment was an appropriate setting



for conducting the interviews because it was nonthreatening and quiet (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012).

Ethical Research

In keeping with the ethical principles outlined in Belmont Report, I followed a process of informed consent (Adams & Miles, 2013). The informed consent process involved open exchange and disclosure with each participant (Smith et al., 2013).). Specifically, I shared information about the study including participant selection, duration of participation, benefits and risks of participation, confidentiality, voluntary participation, withdrawal, participant compensation, research findings (Banner & Zimmer, 2012; Bloswick & Skowron, 2015), and anonymity (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Each participant confirmed his or her willingness to participate in this study replying *I consent* to the consent form included with the letters of invitation that I dispatched by e-mail. As an alternative, each participant had the option of printing and signing a hard copy of the consent form. Bloswick and Skowron (2015) expounded on the importance of getting participants to sign consent forms as evidence of their willingness to participate, without detailing the form of consent – that is, hard copy or electronic. However, in a recent study, Gandy (2015) adopted the use of electronic consent forms, an approach underscored by Marshall and Rossman (2016).

I intended to advise the participants of changes in the nature, scope, and risks of participation as the study progressed (Ochieng, 2012), to give them the opportunity to reassess their willingness to continue their participation (Agu, Obi, Eze, & Okenwa, 2014). However, this did not become necessary. I also intended to maintain a log of all



requests for withdrawal including the stage in the research process and the reasons for withdrawal. In an effort to maintain the principle of volunteerism, Agu et al. (2014) advocated that participants must be able to withdraw their participation for any reason, without objection. However, I received no requests for withdrawal. Participants did not receive incentives for partaking in this study.

The informed consent process, including advice of any changes in the nature, scope, risks, and benefits of this study constitute evidence of my adherence to ethical research principles. I preserved the confidentiality of the participants by storing of interview transcripts and research data in a cabinet with a combination lock procured specifically for this study. I will securely store the data for a period of five years. Enhanced security for digital data will include data encryption and passwords. Data destruction at the end of the retention period will include shredding hard copies with a cross shredder and the use of data destruction software for digital data. Upon receiving IRB approval, the IRB assigned approval number 03-30-16-0195672 to me. Upon transcription of the interviews, I assigned unique alphanumeric identifiers to safeguard the anonymity of the participants and their organizations; an approach underscored by Yin (2014).

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument for this study as advocated by Pezalla et al. (2012) for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and interpreting the data (Xu & Storr, 2012). I used interviews as one of my data collection instruments. Interviews are a popular data collection instrument used by qualitative researchers (Pezalla et al., 2012;



Tessier, 2012). Specifically, I used semistructured interviews to collect data from a purposively selected sample to elicit in-depth information, and to probe further, as required, to obtain clarity (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Cronin-Gilmore (2012), Easterling and Johnson (2015), Lai and Chang (2013), and Sanchez-Rodriquez and Spraakman (2012) are among the case study researchers who have used semistructured interview in their data collection processes. In addition to semistructured interviews, I collected publically available data from the websites, brochures, and annual reports of the participating organizations. Yin (2014) advocated that case study researchers collect data from at least two sources including documents, observations, archival information, and artifacts. Lauckner et al. (2012) included audiovisual material as an acceptable source of data for case studies.

Regarding the semistructured interviews, I rigidly followed the interview protocol outlined in Appendix B in addition to asking probing question required to elicit more information (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Qualitative researchers also use interview protocols to develop rapport with the participants (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012) and provide a structured approach for the design of specific inquiries pertinent to answering the research questions (Yin, 2014). I posed each question in the interview protocol, except for the probes, in the same order to ensure the same systematic approach to data collection.

I employed multiple strategies to enhance the validity of the data collection process prior to, during, and after conducting the interviews. Prior to conducting the interviews, I subjected the interview questions to a field test. Field tests involve



validating the suitability of the interview questions (Price et al., 2014). I redacted the interview questions as necessary, after the field test, but prior to conducting the interviews (Vartian, Singh, Russo, Sittig, & Chessare, 2014). During the data collection process, I followed a case study protocol (see Appendix C) to focus my efforts and safeguard the reliability and validity of the process as recommended by Yin (2014). A copy of the interview questions is available in Appendix D. Upon conducting and transcribing the interviews, I used member checking to augment the creditability and dependability of the data collection process (McConnell-Henry et al., 2011; Reilly, 2013). Member checking involves providing the interview participants with a written interpretation of their responses to each interview question for them to validate the veracity of my interpretations (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Member checking is an iterative process. That is, qualitative researchers revert to the interview participants to seek validation of accuracy of their interpretations of the participants' responses until no new insights are forthcoming. Based on the feedback from the interview participants, I made amendments to my interpretations as necessary, for further validation by the participants as exemplified by Hamann et al. (2014). I therefore used member checking as a technique for safeguarding the creditability and dependability of this study. Hagemeier et al. (2015) underscored member checking an effective data validation technique.



Data Collection Technique

The specific data collection techniques employed in this study were semistructured interviews and analysis of publicly available documents. Qualitative researchers use interviews to collect data to answer research questions with the aim of understanding observed phenomena (Rowley, 2012). Semistructured interviews are the most popular data collection technique used by qualitative researchers (Doody, 2012). Semistructured interviews are open-ended, predetermined questions, delivered mostly in a predetermined order to approximately six to 12 carefully selected interviewees along with additional probes as required (Rowley, 2012).

I conducted the semistructured interviews via the telephone at a time agreed with the participants. Telephone interviews are growing in popularity among qualitative researchers in several disciplines. There are numerous advocates for telephone interviews as a mode of qualitative data collection. Walters et al. (2012) documented the use of telephone interviews by community nurses to monitor the health of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. Cachia and Millward (2011) – strong advocates for telephone interviews, attested to the merit and validity of telephone interviews in the field of psychology. Qualitative researchers have also used telephone interviews as a data collection tool in the field of education (Glogowska, Young, & Lockyer, 2011), and medicine (Johnson et al., 2014). As a guide during the interview process, I followed the interview protocol displayed in Appendix B. Following an interview protocol allowed me to remain develop rapport with the participants (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012), and provide an organized approach to my inquiries (Yin, 2014).



I recorded and subsequently transcribed each interview as advocated by Mealer and Jones (2014), using Cogi – a digital recording and transcription service. For the participants who raised objection with the recording of the interview, I resorted to note-taking as recommended by Al-Yateem (2012). The advantage of using semistructured interviews was that I was able to obtain rich, in-depth information from the participants and clarify their responses by probing (Rowley, 2012). Among the advantages I enjoyed by conducting telephone interviews versus face-to-face interviews were anonymity, convenience re ease of scheduling, and reduced travel requirements (Rowley, 2012). Cachia and Millward, (2011) provided empirical support for the use of the telephone as a viable mode for conducting semistructured interviews.

I also collected data from publicly available sources including the websites, brochures, and annual reports of the organizations the participants represent. Specifically, I extracted and recorded key words, phrases emergent ideas, principles, and themes from these sources on worksheets (Bogossian, Winters-Chang, & Tuckett, 2014; Ida & Shibui, 2012; Pinto et al., 2012). The advantage of this technique was that I was able to review these sources without the complication of arranging logistics (Owen, 2014). However, a disadvantage of using publicly available sources was possible bias by the author of the publication (Owen, 2014).

I did not conduct a pilot study because my investigation of the academic literature revealed that qualitative researchers uncommonly use pilot studies. Quantitative researchers use pilot studies to test the viability of sampling procedures, questionnaire design, and other methodological approaches conceptualized for use in larger studies



(Doody & Doody, 2015). Pilot studies are unsuited to the work of qualitative researchers (Doody & Doody, 2015). As an alternative, I conducted a field test to determine the appropriateness of the interview questions for answering the research question (Vartian et al., 2014). I purposively selected the participants for the field test (Vartian et al., 2014) based on their experience in management of financial institutions. I conducted the field test using three purposively selected senior bank managers. The role of the field test participants was to verify the suitability, plausibility, and clarity of each interview question to answer the research question, which I revised based on their feedback (Price et al., 2014). Noteworthy is that the field test participants did not partake in the actual study interviews. Similarly, directors and managers of credit unions in Grenada did not participate in the field test. To involve directors and managers from credit unions in Grenada in the field-testing may likely have introduced bias.

Upon transcribing the interviews, I prepared a written interpretation of each participants' response. Each participant was presented with a copy, and asked to confirm the accuracy of my interpretations (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). As part of the member checking process, I amended all misinterpretations and represented the revised interpretations to each participant for them to confirm the correctness of my interpretations (Hamann et al., 2014). I used member checking as a data validation technique to establish the creditability, dependability, and trustworthiness of this study (Houghton et al., 2013; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Member checking was therefore an effective data validation technique (Hagemeier et al., 2015) for the purposes of my study.



Data Organization Technique

Technology is important in data organization and preservation (Rademaker, Grace, & Curda, 2012). I digitally recorded the interviews using Cogi and subsequently transcribed each interview. The digital recordings and soft copies of the transcribed interviews I stored on a password-protected computer, and hard copied of the interview transcriptions in a combination safe. The storage period for all data is five years. In their qualitative study of policymaking in South Africa and Cameroon, Naude et al. (2015) digitally recorded all interviews. As advocated by Carpenter & Garcia (2012), Cronin (2014), and Nottingham and Henning (2014), I used research logs and reflective journals to track, categorize, and record my research experience. My research logs and reflective journals are stored in a locked combination safe where they will be kept for five years. Prior to storage, I logged and categorized the data by source and type. Logging and categorizing the data based on type and source is useful for managing the data and for averting being overwhelmed throughout the data collection and data analysis process (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Full data destruction will occur 5 years after the completion of this study – soft copies using data destruction software, and hard copies using a cross shredder.

Data Analysis

I used methodological triangulation as a key component in analyzing the data collected. Triangulation is the use of more than one approach to answering research questions with the aim of increasing readers' confidence in research findings (Heale & Forbes, 2013). Denzin (1978) identified four types of triangulation: data, investigator,

methodological, and theory. Methodological triangulation involves using data from two or more data collection procedures to corroborate research findings, aid a better understanding of phenomena, and enhancing research validity and reliability (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012; Yin, 2014). Said differently, triangulation refers to the convergence of evidence from multiple sources to support the findings of a study (Yin, 2014).

Upon completion of each interview, I transcribed, coded, and stored the data in a password-protected computer to preserve the reliability and validity of the process.

Thereafter, I wrote my interpretation of each participants' response and e-mailed my interpretations to the participants for member checking. For each participant who indicated that my interpretation of their responses were incorrect, I redacted my interpretations based on their feedback, and resubmitted to the participants for confirmation of accuracy (Hamann et al., 2014).

In respect of publically available documents, brochures, and websites of the participants' organization, I extracted keywords and phrases that were indicative of emergent the (Ida & Shibui, 2012). I read each document, brochure, and website twice before coding to enhance the reliability of this element of data analysis (Pinto et al., 2012). Based on the emergent ideas and themes, I assigned codes (Kouam et al., 2014).

Specific to coding, NVivo was my computer-aided software of choice. Houghton et al. (2013) attested to the effectiveness of NVivo as a tool for coding and querying qualitative data. Houghton et al. (2013) also affirmed the usefulness of .NVivo for creating an audit trail that will increase the dependability and confirmability of the data.



During the data analysis process, I focused on emergent themes related to profitability, and compared the emergent themes with themes illuminated in the literature review, including the conceptual framework. I also assessed the emergent themes against studies published after the approval of my research proposal. Yin (2014) endorsed this approach of theoretical propositions versus emergent themes, even contrasting explanations, as a suitable strategy for analyzing case study data.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability refers to the ability of different researchers to produce similar results consistently, under different circumstances with the aim of minimizing errors and biases (Yin, 2014). Said differently, reliability refers to the stability of responses and the ability to replicate findings (Yin, 2014). Reliability is however the nomenclature used by quantitative researchers (Houghton et al., 2013). Consistent with qualitative nomenclature, I used the term dependability instead of reliability (Reilly, 2013). The concept of reliability in qualitative research is synonymous with credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Houghton et al., 2013). To address the issue of dependability, I maintained research logs and reflective journals to document the procedures and experiences throughout the data collection and data analysis process (Carpenter & Garcia, 2012; Cronin, 2014). According to Yin (2014), thoroughly documented research procedures are critical to establishing qualitative research reliability. I also followed a case study protocol (copy in Appendix C). Yin recommended that case study researchers develop case study protocols to guide the research process and



safeguard the dependability of their work. Additionally, qualitative researchers use case study protocols to maintain a chain of evidence that future researchers may follow (Yin, 2014). Houghton et al. (2013) described the chain of evidence from case study protocols to which Yin referred as audit trails.

I performed field tests, member checking, and methodological triangulation to establish the dependability and credibility of this study. Qualitative researchers use field tests to validate the suitability of their interview questions for answering the research question by having purposively selected experts review each question (Price et al., 2014). My field-testing of the interview questions preceded data collection (Price et al., 2014). With regard to the interview questions, I made amendments as required, based on the feedback I received during the field-testing (Price et al., 2014). I also used member checking to underpin the credibility and dependability of this study. Marshall and Rossman (2016) asserted that member checking is an appropriate way for qualitative researchers to underpin the dependability and credibility of their studies. Member checking is the process by which research participants verify the accuracy of interview interpretations and clarify misconceptions prior to the publication of the research results (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The aim of researchers using member checking is to establish the credibility and dependability of their study (McConnell-Henry et al., 2011; Reilly, 2013). I also used methodological triangulation because it is a suitable approach to establishing the dependability and credibility of qualitative studies (Gibbert & Ruigrok, 2010; Wood & Dargan, 2012; Yin, 2014).

Validity

The terms I used for validity were creditability, transferability, and confirmability. Validity is the quantitative nomenclature that refers to the quality, rigor, and trustworthiness of the instruments used as the basis to generalize research findings to wider populations or groups (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Fundamentally, validity is about (a) the effectiveness of the research design and execution, (b) the efficacy of data collection and analysis relative to dependability, consistency, and plausibility of findings and, (c) the quality of interpretation and inferences made from the results of the research (Zachariadis, Scott, & Barrett, 2013). Said differently, validity is about whether or not the results of a study is an accurate portrayal of what the researcher purports it portrays (Grossoehme, 2014).

I secured the creditability of this study via member checking, triangulation (Houghton et al., 2013) and by following the case study protocol in Appendix C as advocated by Yin (2014). Yin proposed the use of triangulation as a means of establishing credibility, as did Wood and Dargan (2012). Yin purported a minimum of two sources of data. Methodological triangulation is the approach to establishing the credibility of this study (Yin, 2014). There were two sources of data for this study – semistructured telephone interviews, and analysis of publically available documents, brochures, and websites. Gibbert and Ruigrok (2010) also proposed triangulation as a means of establishing the creditability of qualitative research results. Similarly, the use of member checking to confirm the veracity of the data interpretation of this study also helped establish creditability (Houghton et al., 2013; Vissak, Francioni, & Musso, 2012).



External validity refers to the generalizability of research findings beyond the setting of a study. Transferability is the synonymous qualitative term for external validity (Reilly, 2013). Houghton et al. (2013) recommended the use of a clear rationale and suitable context for the selection of a case study approach, and the provision of ample details of the case study context as means of establishing transferability. Houghton et al. explained that transferability is achievable by way of rich, thick descriptions of the context of the study, research methods, and raw data collected during the study. Yilmaz (2013) also underscored the importance of rich, thick descriptions of the settings, context, and other relevant elements to achieving transferability. My use of semistructured interviews as a data collection technique resulted in rich, thick descriptions consistent with the recommendations of Houghton et al. My use of digital recording and digital transcription of the interviews, member checking, and methodological triangulation helped reduce threats to the transferability of this study. Notwithstanding, given that case studies are context oriented, beyond the boundaries of this study there is likely to be limited applicability or transferability of the findings.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I presented how I undertook the various elements of this study. In summary, I conducted a multiple qualitative case study to explore the strategies for maintaining profitability at credit unions in Grenada. As the primary data collection instrument, I elicited data via semistructured telephone interviews from a purposively selected sample, and adhered to ethical research principles throughout the research process. I also gathered data from publicly available documents, brochures, and websites.



I used bias mitigation techniques, data saturation, member checking, methodological triangulation, and computer assisted analysis software to safeguard the dependability, creditability, confirmability, and transferability of this study. In Section 3 I present the findings of this study, applications for professional practice, implications for social change, reflections, and recommendations for action and future research. I also present a brief commentary on my reflections throughout the research process followed by brief concluding remarks.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this multiple qualitative case study was to explore strategies credit unions leaders in Grenada used to maintain profitability. The data for this study came from semistructured interviews with persons holding managerial level positions at credit unions in Grenada, and from publically available company documents. Arising from the data collection process, themes emerged. From thematic analysis of the data collected, I developed six major strategies for maintaining credit union profitability, each of which I elaborate on in detail in later sections.

Agency problems exist in the credit union environment that influences the strategies leaders of credit unions in Grenada employ to maintain profitability. I drew this conclusion notwithstanding the views expressed by all six interview participants about the relevance of agency theory in the credit union environment given the existence of the common bond. The results of this study can potentially impact business practice because credit union leaders may be able to use these results as a framework for evaluating and developing strategies for maintaining profitability. Consequently, credit union leaders in Grenada will likely be able to focus their efforts on the imperatives for achieving their profitability objective. This is an important consideration given recent changes in the financial services sector in Grenada, namely, the closure of several branches of competing commercial banks and the more stringent regulatory environment. The results of this study are also reflective of issues that may require the collaborative attention of credit union leaders and regulators in order to bring about change in business practice.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question of this doctoral study was what strategies do credit union leaders in Grenada use to maintain profitability? The relevance of this doctoral study was twofold. The first determinant was the closure of 43% of registered credit unions in Grenada between 2005 and 2015 (GARFIN, 2015). Secondly, NBFIs such as credit unions are important players in the provision of financial services to their members (Fujo & Ali, 2016), and contribute to economic development, especially in developing countries (Ofoeda et al., 2012).

Arising from the central research question, I developed semistructured interview questions. Doody (2012) and Marshall and Rossman (2016) noted semistructured interviews as a frequently used technique among qualitative researchers. I administered the semistructured interviews with open ended questions to a purposively selected sample of credit union leaders, namely managers of licensed credit unions in Grenada. I introduced probes as necessary, as supported by Easterling and Johnson (2015) and Marshall and Rossman (2016). I used probes to seek clarity and attain data saturation on emergent themes. I subjected my interview interpretations to member checking as advocated by Marshall and Rossman (2016).

It is noteworthy that one of the interview questions was specifically related to the conceptual framework of agency theory. My intent for having included that question was to evoke participants' response on their advocacy of agency theory in the context of credit unions. All six participants buffeted the legitimacy of agency theory in the credit union environment. Each participant advocated that the tenets of agency theory do not



support the cooperative structure of credit unions, typified by common bond. This perspective, as articulated by all six participants, represents an interesting corollary against the work of Fully Bressan, Braga, Resende Filho, and Bressan (2013). Though the common bond is not a determinant of credit union orientation, Fully Bressan et al. found that credit union managers adjudicate conflict between borrowing-oriented members and saving-oriented members; a role that is indicative of the existence of agency issues within credit unions. Rubin, Overstreet, Beling, and Rajaratnam (2013) held a similar view. De Carvalho et al. (2015) also recognized a dual managerial role for credit union managers relative to intermediating between cooperative principles and the principles of competition. Related to the conceptual framework, I asked each participant another question to elicit their response on how as credit union managers, they advance the interest of shareholders. Five of the six participants indicated that among their approaches to advancing the interest of credit union members are payment of dividends, payment of interest on deposits accounts, and loan interest rebates. Mook, Maiorano, and Quarter (2015) documented all these approaches to returning value to shareholders of credit unions.

Overall, I unveiled several themes from the literature review, the participants' responses to the semistructured interview questions, and the publically available documents I reviewed. I narrowed the several themes that emerged down to six major themes. The main themes were (a) credit risk management, (b) portfolio growth and development, (c) operational efficiency, (d) advertising and promotion, (e) performance metrics, and (f) strategy review. In the subsections that follow, I elaborate on each major



theme, analyze and discuss their related findings, and describe whether the findings confirm or disconfirm the conceptual framework. I also compare the results of this study to recently published studies, and discuss the findings relative to business practice.

Theme 1: Credit Risk Management

Four of the six interview participants alluded to the management of credit risk as a critical strategy to maintaining credit union profitability. As a strategy, credit risk management at the represented credit unions encompasses various elements including bad debt recovery, delinquency management, development and review of lending policies, and credit analysis techniques. Noteworthy is that the participants made a distinction between bad debt recovery and delinquency management. When probed about the distinction, Participant 1 stated that delinquency management involved "various approaches used to reverse or correct trending late payment habits including refinancing for lower payments and debt consolidation". On the other hand, Participant 1 defined bad debt recovery as "a process of pursing legal channels to recover loans that are more than 90 days in arrears". Participant 1 further enunciated the distinction in this manner "loans for delinquency management are not yet nonproductive, meaning that they are not yet 90 days or more in arrears". Participant 2 also described bad debt recovery as involving "legal action to collect on bad debts, including realization of collateral security". Participant 1 mentioned the importance of this approach such that "a department was recently established for the purpose of pursing bad debts". I inferred from the participants' responses that as an element of credit risk management, bad debt recovery is associated with legal and other costs that are akin to agency costs.



Three of the six interview participants indicated that delinquency management as an element of their credit union's credit risk management strategy. Participant 3 stated "following up on late payments, reassessing members' needs, and refinancing debts" was part of the credit union's approach to managing delinquency. Similarly, Participant 1 and Participant 4 referenced of the said approaches enunciated by Participant 3 in addition to "debt consolidation" as part of their credit union's approach.

Three of six participants spoke of a methodological approach to credit analysis as part of their tactic at their credit unions credit risk management strategy. Participant 2 mentioned having a prescriptive approach to "assessing applicants ability to repay the debt from salaries or income generating activities" as foremost in managing credit risk. In addition to assessing debt service ability, Participant 3 noted the importance of the credit union's past experience with the applicant constituting part of the credit analysis process. Participant 3 also identified the value and nature of the security being offered to collateralize the loan comprise a third element of the credit analysis process. Participant 4's response mirrored that of Participant 3 in respect of the elements constituting the credit union's credit analysis process – debt service ability, nature and value of collateral, and credit history. Researchers, including Mishra and Naidu (2016) advocated the use of credit assessment or credit analysis techniques that encompass several parameters.

Participant 2 singularly outlined the development and review of lending policies as a tactic used by leaders of the represented credit union within the broad ambit of credit risk management. Specifically, Participant 2 expounded the development and periodic review of credit policies relative to lending limits, collateral, and debt serve ability as

integral to managing credit risk. While singularly identified by Participant 2, continuous review of credit risk policies was one of the recommendations of Olando, Jagongo, and Mbewa (2013) from their study of credit cooperatives in Kenya.

The results for this theme confirm the knowledge in the discipline and the suitability of the conceptual framework. I proffer this view because from the participants' responses, managers of credit unions in Grenada have developed definitions and mechanisms for managing credit risk within their loans portfolios. This both advances and safeguards the interest of shareholders. Relative to managing the agency problem (De Carvalho et al., 2015; Rubin et al., 2013), such definitions and mechanisms as developed by managers of credit unions in Grenada will likely be useful, especially for adjudicating the agency problem among borrower-oriented and savings-oriented members. Fully Bressan et al. (2013) mentioned that credit unions managers often have to facilitate the resolution of conflict between borrower-oriented and savings-oriented members.

Theme 2 Portfolio Growth & Development

Allied to Theme 1 is portfolio growth and development. As earlier articulated, loans comprise the largest category of assets among financial institutions (Adebisi & Oyedijo, 2012), ranging between 50%-75% of all assets (Karaa & Krichene, 2012). Understandably, therefore, the participants articulated the importance of portfolio growth and development as a strategic element of maintaining profitability. In this regard, five participants – Participant 1, Participant 3, Participant 4, Participant 5, and Participant 6 – spoke of developing and introducing new products to meet members' needs. Participant 5 and Participant 6 also mentioned attaining portfolio growth through new membership.



Participant 5 described this tactic as "organic growth" which is "undergirded" by Strategy 4 – Advertising and Promotion.

Relative to new product development as a tactic for portfolio growth and development, Participant 5 explained the importance of "listening to the feedback form our members...to inform product development." Explaining further, Participant 5 said such an approach to portfolio growth and development "results in a higher likelihood of acceptance and as such helps us maintain profitability." Participant 6 articulated similar views, and also of frequent members' surveys to obtain feedback of the suitability of existing product to meet members' needs. Management uses the results of members' surveys to inform the development of new products.

In addition to new product development as an approach to portfolio growth and development, Participant 5 also expounded on the development of new niche markets based on members' feedback. Participant 5 explained, "We have developed a niche from among our retired members and those nearing retirement based on members' feedback." Scrutiny of publicly available information from the credit union represented by Participant 5 confirmed that the credit union has a suite of products geared at meeting the needs of this niche. Similarly, publically available information from other participating credit unions indicated the existence of niche market among retired members, though not specifically enunciated during the interview process.

Participant 1 singularly spoke of "portfolio diversification to include investments in government paper". This participant indicated that the credit union has adopted a tactic of investing in government paper on the Regional Government Securities Market



(RGSM). Publically available data from the credit union represented by Participant 1 corroborated that the credit union had 33.9% of its financial assets vested in government paper as at December 31, 2014. Noteworthy is even when probed, no other participant mentioned that their credit unions actually invested in government paper as a tactic for achieving portfolio growth and development. However, scrutiny of publically available information for two other participating credit unions confirmed substantial investments in government paper representing between 16% - 49% of financial assets held as at December 31, 2014.

Four of the six participants – Participant 1, Participant 3, Participant 4 and Participant 5 – spoke of frequent loan promotions as tactic of achieving portfolio growth and development. Promotions included 'pay day loans' which are unsecured loans serviced by salary assignment or salary deduction, specially priced 'back-to-school loans', vehicle loan promotions, vacation loans, and mortgage loans. On the websites of the participating credit unions were a suite of advertisements for various loan promotions and other deposit products.

The results of this theme extend knowledge in the discipline of managing agency conflict. The approaches to portfolio growth and development as annunciated by the participants may assist in advancing shareholders' interests. Noteworthy however, is that only half of the represented credit unions invested in government paper as a strategy for advancing the interest of their shareholders through portfolio growth and development. In the case of the credit union represented by Participant 1, this was evidenced from the interview data and data collected from publically available sources, specifically annual



reports. In respect of the credit unions represented by Participant 3 and Participant 5, I unveiled evidence of investments in government paper only from data collected from their annual reports.

Theme 3: Operational Efficiency

Sundry researchers have held that a positive relationship exists between operational efficiency and profitability including Abiodun (2013), Dogan (2013), Nijjar (2013), and Robin and Wollan (2012). All six participants referenced operational efficiency as constituting an important strategy for maintaining profitability. In this respect, the participants enunciated cost control or cost containment as the primary element for achieving operational efficiency. Participant 1 spoke of "keeping a close eye on costs", and Participant 2 of "managing all cost drivers throughout the credit union" including overtime and sundry expenses. Participant 3 said that management "attempts to keep the expense ratio as low as possible". In addition to cost control, Participant 4 mentioned "shopping around" and "comparing quotations" before deciding on service providers including software upgrades and various elements of capital expenditure projects. The participants' keen interest in improving operational efficiency through cost reduction is congruent with one of the approaches documented by Mook et al. (2015) for returning value to credit union shareholders. Notwithstanding, Mook et al. noted that conflict of objectives may exist between managers of credit unions and members of the Board of Directors. Ory and Lemzeri (2012) also commented on the paradoxical nature of attaining operational efficiency given the competitive environment in which credit unions operate.



Participant 5 singularly indicated the use of mergers and acquisitions as an element of achieving operational efficiency and maintaining profitability, and cited the credit union's two previous successful acquisitions. Goddard et al. (2014) advocated mergers and acquisitions as an approach to maintaining profitability. Specifically, Participant 5's credit union "acquired two smaller credit unions", synonymous with the recommended approach of Nago et al. (2014), and of Robin and Wollan (2012) without increasing agency costs. The findings for this theme are congruent with knowledge in the discipline and the suitability of the conceptual framework for exploring strategies used by credit union managers for maintaining profitability.

Theme 4: Advertising and Promotion

Advertising and promotion resonated with five of the six participants as a strategy for maintaining profitability. The evidence from publicly available information including the credit unions' websites and sundry brochures corroborated the participants' responses. Participant 6 was the only participant that did not identify advertising and promotion as a strategy employed by the represented credit union during the interview process. However, I inferred from the scrutiny of publically available data for the credit union represented by Participant 6 that advertising was actually a tactic management used to maintain profitability. Participant 4 spoke of the importance of advertising and promoting the credit union's products and services as a strategy for maintaining profitability noting the existence of "competitors with similar offerings". As a strategy for maintaining profitability, Al-Nimer and Yousef (2015) found a positive relationship between advertising and profitability. In their research paper, Ghorbani, Hajiabadid, and

Zaranezhad (2016) also found a positive relationship between advertising and profitability. Notwithstanding the relationship between advertising and profitability, Quebra, Bick, and Abratt (2013) advocated the importance of a clearly defined contract between clients (principal) and advertising agency (agent) from an agency cost and relationship management perspective. The findings of these recent studies by Al-Nimer and Yousef, Ghorbani et al., and Quebra et al. underscore the suitability of agency theory as a suitable conceptual framework for exploring advertising and promotion as a strategy for maintaining profitability. Further, the findings for this theme ratify and extend the usefulness of agency theory in the credit union environment relative to the use of advertising and promotion as a strategy for maintaining profitability.

Relative to strategy, all of the credit unions represented by all six participants engage in social media advertising and promotion. Knoll (2016) purported that social media is part of the lifestyle of internet users. Participant 2 stated social media "has increased our visibility and reach to members in the diaspora, our interfacing with, and volume of business with members under 40 years." Social media is growing in importance as an alternative to traditional advertising in terms of capturing the attention of consumers; especially the Millennials, the most effective social medium being Facebook (Duffett & Wakeham, 2016). Among the social media used by the represented credit unions for advertising and promotion are Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn, and YouTube.

Theme 5: Performance Metrics

All six participants alluded to the use of sundry performance metrics as yardsticks for measuring the success of the various strategies employed. The performance metric common to all six participants is Protection, Effective financial structure, Asset quality, Rates of return and costs, Liquidity, and Signs of growth (PEARLS) ratios as advocated by the World Council of Credit Unions (WCCU). PEARLS is a performance measurement and monitoring system developed by the WCCU comprised of a series of ratios used to evaluate the performance of credit unions (Kivuvo & Olweny, 2014). In addition to the PEARLS system of evaluation, some participants alluded to their represented credit union using other performance evaluation metrics not comprised in the PEARLS system. Among the various other metrics used include variance analysis (Participant 1 and Participant 6), break-even analysis and market share analysis (Participant 6), net income ratio (Participant 3 and Participant 4), earnings per share (Participant 4 and Participant 5), capital employed, and expense ratio (Participant 3 and Participant 5). The participants articulated that the various performance evaluation metrics comprise the management accounting systems used at their credit unions to monitor financial performance. Bouckova (2015) averred that management accounting systems, for example variance analysis, are important mechanisms for evaluating financial performance and monitoring agency costs. Rubin et al. (2013) advocated that performance criteria are one component of the objectives of all credit unions. Bouckova advocated the use of various performance metrics, as used by the credit unions in this study; an approach that is useful from an agency perspective. The results of this theme

therefore confirm the knowledge in the discipline and the suitability of the conceptual framework for exploring strategies for maintaining profitability.

Theme 6: Strategy Review

Periodic review of the strategies employed was a component of evaluating the success of the strategies employed to maintain profitability by all six participating credit unions. Paradoxically, while the participants rejected agency theory as applicable to credit unions because of the common bond, all six participants conducted periodic strategic performance reviews. Monthly reviews and annual reviews are common to all represented credit unions. Participant 3, Participant 4, and Participant 6 also indicated that they conduct quarterly reviews at their represented credit unions. Reviewing performance is consistent with the monitoring process advocated by proponents of agency theory (Bosse & Phillips, 2016; Jensen & Meckling, 1976). Arising out of the review process, the leaders of the represented credit unions undertake various actions in their efforts to maintain profitability. In Table 1 below, I outline the various actions undertaken by credit union leaders in Grenada arising from the strategy review process.

Four participants – Participant 2, Participant 3, Participant 4, and Participant 5 – alluded to reviewing and making changes to existing strategies. Participant 3 and Participant 4 also spoke of developing new strategies to replace existing strategies considered ineffective at maintaining profitability. Participant 5 and Participant 6 indicated that at their represented credit unions, arising out of the review process, leaders might implement migrating measures. The implementation of mitigating measures augment but do not replace existing strategies. Participant 2 and Participant 6 mentioned



reviewing supporting systems and processes when considering whether existing strategies are appropriate for maintaining profitability. Along with Participant 6, Participant 1 commended on the review of supporting cost drivers. Participant 6 stated singly of conducting employee and member surveys, reviewing operational vehicles/units, and making changes to product and service offerings as actionable outcomes arising from the strategy review process. Notwithstanding the refutation of agency theory as inapplicable to credit unions because of the common bond, the findings for this theme confirm the suitability of the conceptual framework for exploring strategies for maintaining profitability.



Table 2

Outcomes from Strategy Review Process

Strategy review outcome	P1	P2	Р3	P4	P5	P6
Review & change policies		X				
Review & change strategies		X	X	X	X	
Develop new strategies			X	X		
Review supporting systems & processes		X				X
Review cost structure		X				X
Review operational vehicles/units						X
Conduct employees & member surveys						X
Review & change product and service offering						X
Implement mitigating solutions				X	X	

Note. P1 = Participant 1; P2 = Participant 2; P3 = Participant 3; P4 = Participant 4; P5 = Participant 5; P6 = Participant 6



Other Observations

Themes from the literature review that participants did not ventilate as part of their approach to maintaining profitability were liquidity, capital, and size. Similarly, my review of publically available information, liquidity, capital, and size did not appear to feature among the approaches used by the represented credit unions in maintaining profitability. Interest rates also did not feature significantly, but for the singular reference to competitive pricing by Participant 4. An interesting observation was the reference by Participant 5 to listening to members' feedback as a useful tactic in maintaining credit union profitability.

Other noteworthy feedback arising from the interview process is the possible usefulness of legislative review. Participant 1 cited the existing legislation as "prohibitive" relative to the range of product and service offerings available to credit union members compared to commercial banks. Participant 3 expressed similar sentiments. Participant 1 also spoke of legislative prohibitions relative to portfolio diversification and restrictions on investment pursuits. Similar sentiments have found expression in the work of Ory and Lemzeri, (2012), and Olando et al. (2013).

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings of this study may potentially be useful to leaders of credit union in Grenada as they explore approaches to maintain profitability in the current economic, financial, and regulatory environment. This is an important consideration if credit unions are to remain relevant in the changing economic, financial, and regulatory environment. Further, the findings of this study are important to business practice if credit union



leaders are to adhere to the objective of serving disenfranchised groups that are otherwise unbankable. Nembhard (2013) purported that increasing numbers of people will become unbanked as banks continue various forms of strategic realignment including mergers, and closures in some communities. Opportunities for serving the disenfranchised groups are numerous for credit unions (Nembhard, 2013). Against this backdrop, the results of this study may provide a framework for the development of new strategic initiatives geared at maintaining profitability, including serving disenfranchised groups. The results of this study may also provide credit union leaders with a yardstick for evaluating existing strategies for maintaining profitability. The results of this study represents a suitable framework for the aforementioned because it is reflective of the successful strategies currently employed among credit unions. Consequently, credit union leaders may be able to use these results to focus their efforts at reevaluating existing strategies. Further, credit union leaders may be able to assess and compare the success of their individual strategies against that of their counterparts. Such a comparative review may be the springboard for the development of new strategies, building of synergies within and across credit unions geared at maintaining profitability.

Implications for Social Change

Grenada is an emerging economy. The characteristics of emerging economies are market inefficiencies, information asymmetry, existence of state-owned corporations in key economic sectors, and sundry socio-political and economic changes in recent decades (Xu & Meyer, 2013). On the socioeconomic front, among the more notable recent occurrences in Grenada have been the collapse of three NBFIs and the recapitalization of



another NBFI under the auspices of a court-appointed Judicial Manager. The contagion effect of the collapse of the NBFIs resulted in a loss of business and investor confidence relative to the corporate governance of NBFIs (Soverall, 2012). Additionally, the Government of Grenada recently initiated a structural adjustment program administered by the International Monetary Fund (IMF). The objective of the structural adjustment program is to correct fiscal imbalances, including averting default on sovereign debt instruments as have occurred in the past. Against this backdrop, the results of this study may have positive social implications, most notable being contributing to the soundness of Grenada's financial sector, particularly that of NBFIs. Specifically, the results of this study may be useful to the Government of Grenada and GARFIN relative to minimizing their efforts at averting the impact of the collapse of NBFIs. Khandoker et al. (2013) were strong advocates for sound NBFIs in minimizing the efforts of governments and regulators in averting their collapse. This is an important implication because of the contribution NBFIs make to the financial sector and to economic growth and stability, especially in developing economies (Ofoeda et al., 2012). As such, safeguarding the profitability of credit unions can avert moral hazard and contagion (Ofoeda et al., 2012), and safeguard the financial welfare of credit union members. Governments and regulators in other Caribbean nations may also find this study to be a useful model to guide their efforts at regulating and growing the nonbank financial sector in their countries.



Recommendations for Action

Leaders of credit unions can successfully maintain profitability by adopting the strategic approaches outlined in this study. My recommendations for action are in keeping with the emergent themes of this study. Specifically, credit union leaders must (a) develop strategies for managing credit risk, (b) pursue portfolio growth and development, (c) work towards to the attainment of operational efficiency, (d) develop an advertising and promotion strategy, (e) develop predetermined performance review systems, and (e) implement periodic strategic review. Leaders of all credit unions throughout Grenada may find the results and recommendations of this study informative relative to the pursuit of their profit objectives. A potential source through which I may be able to disseminate the results of this study is at conferences held under the auspices of the Grenada Cooperative League Limited. The Grenada Cooperative League Limited is an umbrella agency to which all licensed credit unions in Grenada belong. The results of this study may also be useful to leaders of credit unions throughout the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) as a model for evaluating strategies for maintaining profitability, or for conducting similar studies in their jurisdictions. I will likely be able to access and disseminate the results of this study to the leaders of credit unions in the OECS through the Caribbean Confederation of Credit Unions (CCCU). CCCU holds a members convention annually.



Recommendations for Further Research

Firstly, the perspective articulated by Participant One about fee income may present an opportunity for further study among NBFIs. Specifically, Participant One indicated that fee income was a strategy for maintaining profitability citing that "members do not object to paying fees", a view that gives new insight from an agency perspective. In a recent study, Williams and Rajaguru (2013) raised the matter of bank fee income, disintermediation, and agency theory, which may have applicability for NBFIs.

Secondly, arising out of this study, two participants commented that existing legislative prohibitions stymie their efforts to implement new strategies for maintaining profitability. They referenced being restricted in the range of products and services available to credit union members, such that the "credit union movement is clamoring for change". Another spoke of not being able to "invest outside of the OECS (Organization of Eastern Caribbean States)", but rather being limited to investing in government paper on the RGSM. Opportunities may therefore exist for further research on the legislative prescriptions that govern credit unions in Grenada.

Thirdly, future researchers may also explore strategies for maintaining profitability among credit unions or any of the proposed areas for further research by employing quantitative or mixed methodologies. The practicality of a quantitative or mixed methodological approach are twain. A quantitative or mixed approach may help future researchers elucidate the phenomenon of the strategies credit unions leaders employ to maintain profitability, or any of the suggested areas for further study. By using

either alternative methodological approach future researchers may be able to make generalizations that can inform new theory, such as I was not able to make given the qualitative case study approach employed in this study. Not being able to make generalizations outside the boundaries of this study is a limitation of qualitative case studies.

Fourthly, other possibilities for overcoming the limitations of this study include extending the research population to include leaders of other categories of NBFIs. A broader population such as this may add to the repository of knowledge on NBFIs as opposed to being restricted to credit unions. Future researchers may also adopt a quantitative or mixed methodological approach to this study. A quantitative or mixed approach may help future researchers overcome the limitation of the qualitative case study approach I adopted in this study. Specifically, a quantitative or mixed methodology may aid future researcher make generalizations such as cannot be made with the results of this study.

Reflections

My journey toward the attainment of this doctoral degree has changed my perspective on many things, including issues related to social change. While this doctorate relates to the field of business, particularly resolving an actual business problem, Walden's orientation towards social change forced me to give conscious thought to what I initially conceptualized as a paradox. The relevance of this dual objective became increasingly apparent to me as I paid attention to the evolution of the financial services sector in Grenada. During the time of my doctoral journey, the



financial sector in Grenada underwent several changes. Among the five licensed commercial banks with an overall 16-branch network, the closure of five branches – four in rural yet most populace districts – markedly reduced the availability of banking services to several communities. This strategic realignment by the commercial banks presented opportunities for NBFIs such as credit unions to serve the disenfranchised population of these rural communities and grow their portfolios. Ojong (2014) described such disenfranchised populations as unbankable, bottom of the pyramid, low-income persons that credit unions can successfully serve given their system of governance and organizational structure. This opportunity to serve the disenfranchised contributed in part to the eroding of my perception of what I originally perceived as a paradox – that is, social change alongside business practice. In addition to broadening my perspective, this DBA journey has increased my professional discipline manifold.

Conclusion

I unveiled strategies managers use to maintain credit union profitability from a review of the literature, thematic analysis of the interview responses, and analysis of publicly available information. In order to maintain profitability, credit union leaders must (a) develop strategies for managing credit risk, (b) pursue portfolio growth and development, (c) pursue operational efficiency, (d) engage in skillful advertising and promotion, (e) implement performances measurement metrics, and (f) engage in periodic strategic review. Overall, I inferred that periodic strategic review was the most important individual approach to maintaining profitability. Engaging in periodic strategic review allows the management team to reevaluate and modify individual profitability tactics in

their quest to maintain profitability. All six interview participants rejected agency theory as applicable to credit unions having cited the common bond of credit union membership as their reason. Notwithstanding, credit union managers adjudicate agency conflict between borrower-oriented members and savings-oriented members, the board of directors and themselves, and various external entities and the credit union.

Consequently, leaders of credit unions must contemplate managing agency conflict and agency costs when devising strategies to maintain profitability.

References

- Abbas, A., Zaidi, S., Ahmad, W., & Ashraf, R. U. (2014). Credit risk exposure and performance of banking sector of Pakistan. *Journal of Basic and Applied Scientific Research*, *4*(3), 240-245. Retrieved from http://textroad.com/AboutJournal.aspx?journalId=13
- Abiodun, B. Y. (2013). The effect of firm size on firms profitability in Nigeria. *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development*, 4(5), 90-94. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEDS/index
- Adams, D. P., & Miles, T. P. (2013). The application of Belmont report principles to policy development. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *39*(12), 16-21. doi:10.3928/00989134-20131028-07
- Adebisi, S., & Oyedijo, A. (2012). Strategic importance of credit risk management to shareholders' wealth sustenance in Nigerian Banks: An empirical analysis. *Acta Universitatis Danubius: Oeconomica*, 8(1), 131-148. Retrieved from http://journals.univ-danubius.ro/index.php/oeconomica/index
- Adefulu, A. D. (2015). Promotional strategy impacts on organisational market share and profitability. *Acta Universitatis Danubius*. *Oeconomica*, *11*(6), 20-33. Retrieved from http://journals.univ-danubius.ro/index.php/oeconomica/index
- Aduda, J., & Gitonga, J. (2011). The relationship between credit risk management and profitability among the commercial banks in Kenya. *Journal of Modern***Accounting and Auditing, 7, 934-946. Retrieved from http://www.davidpublisher.org/index.php/Home/Journal/JMAA



- Agu, K. A., Obi, E. I., Eze, B. I., & Okenwa, W. O. (2014). Attitude towards informed consent practice in a developing country: A community-based assessment of the role of educational status. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *15*(1). doi:10.1186/1472-6939-15-77
- Ahmad, S., Nafees, B., & Khan, Z. A. (2012). Determinants of profitability of Pakistani banks: Panel data evidence for the period 2001-2010. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *4*(1), 149-165. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/
- Al Ali, H., & Naysary, B. (2014). Risk management practices in Islamic banks in Kuwait.

 **Journal of Islamic Banking and Finance, 2(1), 123-148. Retrieved from http://jibfnet.com/
- Al-Nimer, M., & Yousef, A. A. (2015). The impact of marketing strategy on profitability in medical Jordanian corporations. *International Business Research*, 8(11), 61-67. doi:10.5539/ibr.v8n11p61
- Al-Yateem, N. (2012). The effect of interview recording on quality of data obtained: A methodological reflection. *Nurse Researcher*, *19*(4), 31-35. doi:10.7748/nr2012.07.19.4.31.c9222
- Alalaya, M., & Al Khattab, S. A. (2015). A case study in business market: Banks' profitability: Evidence from Jordanian commercial banks (2002-2015).

 International Journal of Business Management & Economic Research, 6, 204-213. Retrieved from http://www.ijbmer.com/
- Alshatti, A. S. (2014). The effect of the liquidity management on profitability in the Jordanian commercial banks. *International Journal of Business and Management*,



- 10(1), 62-72. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n1p62
- Alshatti, A. S. (2015). The effect of credit risk management on financial performance of the Jordanian commercial banks. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, *12*(1), 338-345. Retrieved from http://businessperspectives.org/component/option,com_frontpage/Itemid,1/
- Anand, A., & Green, A. (2012). Regulating financial institutions: The value of opacity.

 McGrill Law Journal, 57, 399-427. doi:10.7202/10009063ar
- Ani, W. U., Ugwunta, D. O., Ezeudu, I. J., & Ugwuanyi, G. O. (2012). An assessment of the determinants of bank profitability in Nigeria: Bank characteristics panel evidence. *Journal of Accounting and Taxation*, 4(3), 38-43. doi:10.5897/JAT11.034
- Aremu, M. A., Ekpo, I. C., Mustapha, A. M., & Adedoyin, S. I. (2013). Determinants of capital structure in Nigerian banking sector. *International Journal of Academic Research in Economics and Management Sciences*, 2(4), 27-43. doi:10.6007/IJAREMS/v2-i4/50
- Arghode, V. (2012). Qualitative and quantitative research: Paradigmatic differences.

 Global Education Journal, 12(4), 155-163. Retrieved from

 http://www.franklinpublishing.net/globaleducation.html
- Ashworth, C. J. (2012). Marketing and organisational development in e-SMEs:

 Understanding survival and sustainability in growth-oriented and comfort-zone pure-play enterprises in the fashion retail industry. *International*Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 8, 165-201. doi:10.1007/s11365-



- 011-0171-6
- Award, I., & Jayyar, F. (2013). Working capital management, liquidity and profitability of the manufacturing sector in Palestine: Panel co-integration and causality. *Modern Economy*, 4, 662-671. doi:10.4236/me.2013.410072
- Bailey, L. F. (2014). The origin and success of qualitative research. *International Journal* of Market Research, 56, 167-184. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2014-013
- Banner, D., & Zimmer, L. (2012). Informed consent in research: An overview for nurses.

 *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing, 22(1), 26-30. Retrieved from http://www.cardiovascularnurse.com/info/cjcn.cfm
- Barratt, M., Choi, T. Y., & Li, M. (2011). Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications.

 **Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 329-342. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- Baskarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(24), 1-18. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Basu, N. (2014). The structure of equity ownership: A survey of the evidence.

 Managerial Finance, 40, 1175-1189. doi:10.1108/MF-10-2013-0294
- Bauer, K. (2015). The corporate credit union crisis: Does it call for reform or reengineering? *Journal of Banking Regulation*, 16(2), 89-105.
 doi:10.1057/jbr.2013.25
- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40-43. doi:10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442



- Berger, A. N., & Di Patti, E. B. (2006). Capital structure and firm performance: A new approach to testing agency theory and an application to the banking industry.

 Journal of Banking & Finance, 30, 1065-1102.

 doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin.2005.05.015
- Berle, A., & Means, G. (1932). *The modern corporation and private property*. New York, NY: Macmillian.
- Berrios, M. R. (2013). The relationship between bank credit risk and profitability and liquidity. *The International Journal of Business and Finance Research*, 7, 103-118. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/ijbfr.html
- Bhatia, A., Mahajan, P., & Chander, S. (2012). Determinants of profitability of private sector banks in India. *Indian Journal of Accounting*, 42(2), 39-51. Retrieved from http://indianaccounting.org
- Bloswick, A., & Skowron, A. (2015). Informed consent documentation in pharmaceutical industry-sponsored clinical trials. *Ethics & Medicine: An International Journal of Bioethics*, *31*, 51-58. Retrieved from https://www.ethicsandmedicine.com/
- Boahene, S. H., Dasah, J., & Agyei, S. K. (2012). Credit risk and profitability of selected banks in Ghana. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, *3*(7), 6-14.

 Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA
- Bogossian, F., Winters-Chang, P., & Tuckett, A. (2014). The pure hard slog that nursing is...A qualitative analysis of nursing work. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 46, 377-388. doi:10.1111/jnu.12090
- Bosse, D. A., & Phillips, R. A. (2016). Agency theory and bounded self interest.



- Academy of Management Review, 41, 276-297. doi:10.5465/amr.2013.0420
- Bouckova, M. (2015). Management accounting and agency theory. *Procedia Economics* and Finance, 25, 5-13. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00707-8
- Broom, A. (2005). Using qualitative interviews in CAM research: A guide to study design, data collection and data analysis. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 13(1), 65-73. doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2005.01.001
- Bryant, P., & Davis, C. (2012). Regulated change effects on Boards of Directors: A look at agency theory and resource dependency theory. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 11(2), 1-15. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-strategic-management-journal/
- Cachia, M., & Millward, L. (2011). The telephone medium and semi-structured interviews: A complementary fit. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 6, 265-277. doi:10.1108/17465641111188420
- Capraru, B., & Ihnatov, I. (2015). Determinants of Bank's profitability in EU15.

 Scientific Annals of the 'Alexandru Ioan Cuza' University of Iasi: Economic

 Sciences Series, 62, 93-101. doi:10.1515/aicue-2015-0007
- Carlon, D. M., & Downs, A. (2014). Stakeholder valuing: A process of identifying the interrelationships between firm and stakeholder attributes. *Administrative Sciences*, 4(2), 137-154. doi:10.3390/admsci4020137
- Carpenter, L. J., & Garcia, A. A. (2012). Assessing outcomes of a study abroad course for nursing students. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *32*, 85-89. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-33.2.85



- Case, A. D., Todd, N. R., & Kral, M. J. (2014). Ethnography in community psychology:

 Promises and tensions. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *54*(1-2), 60-71. doi:10.1007/s10464-014-9648-0
- Chen, C. X., Lu, H., & Sougiannis, T. (2012). The agency problem, corporate governance, and the asymmetrical behavior of selling, general, and administrative costs. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 29, 252-282. doi:10.1111/j.1911-3846.2011.01094.x
- Chen, K., & Pan, C. (2012). An empirical study of credit risk efficiency of banking industry in Taiwan. Web Journal of Chinese Management Review, 15(1), 1-16.

 Retrieved from http://cmr.ba.ouhk.edu.hk/
- Chenail, R. J. (2011a). How to conduct clinical qualitative research on the patient's experience. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*, 1173-1190. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Chenail, R. J. (2011b). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*, 255-262. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Clarke, T. (2014). The impact of financialisation on international corporate governance:

 The role of agency theory and maximising shareholder value. *Law & Financial Markets Review*, 8(1), 39-51. doi:10.5235/17521440.8.1.39
- Cox, J., & Ryu, L. (2014). Stress testing for supervisory purposes: Framework and challenges. *Journal of Risk Management in Financial Institutions*, 7(1), 6-10. Retrieved from http://www.henrystewartpublications.com/jrm



- Cronin, C. (2014, May). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Cronin-Gilmore, J. (2012). Exploring marketing strategies in small businesses. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 6(1), 96-107. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Crowston, K., Allen, E. E., & Heckman, R. (2012). Using natural language processing technology for qualitative data analysis. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 15, 523-543. doi:10.1080/13645579.2011.625764
- Dahmash, F. N. (2015). Size effect on company profitability: Evidence from Jordan. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(2), 58-72.

 doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n2p58
- Dailey, S. L., & Browning, L. (2014). Retelling stories in organizations: Understanding the functions of narrative repetition. *Academy of Management Review*, *39*(1), 22-43. doi:10.5465/amr.2011.0329
- Daskalakis, N., Eriotis, N., Thanou, E., & Vasiliou, D. (2014). Capital structure and size:

 New evidence across the broad spectrum of SMEs. *Managerial Finance*, 40,

 1207-1222. doi:10.1108/MF-11-2013-0325
- Davies, B. (2013). How do boards address risk management and oversights? *Journal of Risk Management in Financial Institutions*, 6, 352-365. Retrieved from http://www.henrystewartpublications.com/
- Dawar, V. (2014). Agency theory, capital structure and firm performance: Some Indian evidence. *Managerial Finance*, 40, 1190-1206. doi:10.1108/MF-10-2013-0275



- De Carvalho, F. L., Neto, S. B., & Guimarães Kalatzis, A. E. (2015). Exit and failure of credit unions in Brazil: A risk analysis. *Revista Contabilidade & Finanças USP*, 26(67), 70-84. doi:10.1590/1808-057x201411390
- Denzin, N. K. (1978). *Sociological methods: A sourcebook*. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2008). *Strategies of qualitative inquiry* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dijkstra, R. J. (2010). Accountability of financial supervisory agencies: An incentive approach. *Journal of Banking Regulation*, 11, 115-128. doi:10.1057/jbr.2010.1
- Dima, C., & Corches, R. (2013). Non-bank financial institutions: Types and functions.

 *Contemporary Readings in Law & Social Justice, 5(2), 700-704. Retrieved from http://www.addletonacademicpublishers.com/
- Dogan, M. (2013). Does firm size affect the firm Profitability? Evidence from Turkey.

 *Research Journal of Finance & Accounting, 4, 53-59. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA
- Doody, O. (2012). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(5), 28-32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Doody, O., & Doody, C. (2015, November). Conducting a pilot study: Case study of a novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, 24, 1074-1078.doi:10.12968/bjon.2015.24.21.1074
- Draper, A., & Swift, J. A. (2011). Qualitative research in nutrition and dietetics: Data collection issues. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 24, 3-12.



- doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2010.01117.x
- Du, X. (2013). Does religion matter to owner-manager agency costs? Evidence from China. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 11, 319-347. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1569-y
- Duffett, R. G., & Wakeham, M. (2016). Social media marketing communications effect on attitudes among millennials in South Africa. *African Journal of Information Systems*, 8(3), 20-44. Retrieved from http://www.ajisonline.com/
- Dunkle, K. L., & Decker, M. R. (2013). Gender-based violence and HIV: Reviewing the evidence for links and causal pathways in the general population and high-risk groups. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, 69, 20-26. doi:10.1111/aji.12039
- Easterling, B. A., & Johnson, E. I. (2015). Conducting qualitative interviews on parental incarceration: Personal reflections on challenges and contributions. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1550-1567. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Ellis, T. J., & Levy, Y. (2009). Towards a guide for novice researchers on research methodology: Review and proposed methods. *Issues in Informing Science and Information Technology*, 6, 323-337. Retrieved from http://www.informingscience.org/Journals/IISIT/Overview
- Ely, D. (2014). Credit unions and risk. *Journal of Regulatory Economics*, 46(1), 80-111. doi:10.1007/s11149-013-9241-8
- Fakis, A., Hilliam, R., Stoneley, H., & Townend, M. (2014). Quantitative analysis of qualitative information from interviews: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 8, 139-161. doi:10.1177/1558689813495111



- Fassin, Y. (2012). Stakeholder management, reciprocity and stakeholder responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 83-96. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1381-8
- Fisher, C. B. (2011). Addiction research ethics and the Belmont principles: Do drug users have a different moral Voice? *Substance Use & Misuse*, 46, 728-741. doi:10.3109/10826084.2010.528125
- Foster, J. S., & Reddock, R. R. (2011). The global financial crisis and Caribbean women:

 A gender analysis of regional policy responses. *Social & Economic Studies*, *50*,

 67-69. Retrieved from http://sesjournaluwi.blogspot.com
- Francis, J. J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology & Health*, 25, 1229-1245. doi:10.1080/08870440903194015
- Freeman, M. (2011). Validity in dialogic encounters with hermeneutic truths. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17, 543-551. doi:10.1177/1077800411409887
- Freeman, R. E. (1984). *Strategic management: A stakeholder approach*. Boston, MA: Pitman.
- Fujo, K. G., & Ali, A. I. (2016, February). Factors affecting financial performance of savings and credit societies in Kilifi County - A case study of Imarika Sacco. *The International Journal of Business & Management*, 4, 448-469. Retrieved from www.theijbm.com
- Fully Bressan, V. G., Braga, M. J., Resende Filho, M. A., & Bressan, A. A. (2013).

 Brazilian credit union member groups: Borrower-dominated, saver-dominated or



- neutral behavior? *Brazilian Administration Review*, *10*(1), 40-56. doi:10.1590/S1807-76922012005000008
- Gandy, D. L. (2015). Small business strategies for company profitability and sustainability (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://www.proquest.com/
- Ganguli, S. K. (2013). Capital structure does ownership structure matter? Theory and Indian evidence. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, *30*(1), 56-72. doi:10.1108/10867371311300982
- Ghorbani, F., Hajiabadid, R. Y., & Zaranezhad, M. (2016). The effects of advertising on profitability of industries in Iran (A case study of cosmetics and hygiene products stores). *Journal of Science & Engineering*, 4, 1-8. Retrieved from http://www.irjse.in
- Gibbert, M., & Ruigrok, W. (2010). The "what" and "how" of case study rigor: Three strategies based on published research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *13*, 710-737. doi:10.1177/1094428109351319
- Gibbins, J., Bhatia, R., Forbes, K., & Reid, C. M. (2014). What do patients with advanced incurable cancer want from the management of their pain? A qualitative study.

 Palliative Medicine, 28, 71-78. doi:10.1177/0269216313486310
- Gizaw, M., Kebede, M., & Selvaraj, S. (2015). The impact of credit risk on profitability performance of commercial banks in Ethiopia. *African Journal of Business Management*, 9(2), 59-66. doi:10.5897/AJBM2013.7171
- Glogowska, M., Young, P., & Lockyer, L. (2011). Propriety, process and purpose:

 Considerations of the use of the telephone interview method in an educational



- research study. Higher Education, 62, 17-26. doi:10.1007/s10734-010-9362-2
- Goddard, J., McKillop, D., & Wilson, J. (2014). U.S. credit unions: Survival, consolidation, and growth. *Economic Inquiry*, *52*, 304-319. doi:10.1111/ecin.12032
- Golicic, S., & Davis, D. F. (2012). Implementing mixed methods research in supply chain management. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics*Management, 42, 726-741. doi:10.1108/09600031211269721
- Gonzalez-Teruel, A., & Abad-Garcia, M. F. (2012). Grounded theory for generating theory in the study of behavior. *Library & Information Science Research*, *34*, 31-36. doi:10.1016/j.lisr.2011.02.006
- Grenada Authority for the Regulation of Financial Institutions. (2015). *Registered Credit Unions*. St. George's, Grenada: Author.
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20, 109-122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Gupta, P. (2015). An empirical study of relationship between capital structure and profitability of foreign promoters holding companies in India. *BVIMR Management Edge*, 8(1), 80-91. Retrieved from http://www.bvimr.com
- Hagemeier, N. E., Tudiver, F., Brewster, S., Hagy, E. J., Hagaman, A., & Pack, R. P. (2015). Prescription drug abuse communication: A qualitative analysis of prescriber and pharmacist perceptions and behaviors. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*. doi:10.1016/j.sapharm.2015.12.008
- Hamann, H. A., Ostroff, J. S., Marks, E. G., Gerber, D. E., Schiller, J. H., & Lee, S. C.



- (2014). Stigma among patients with lung cancer: a patient-reported measurement model. *Psycho-Oncology*, 23(1), 81-92. doi:10.1002/pon.3371
- Haneef, S., Raiz, T., Ramzan, M., Mansoor, A. R., Hafiz, M. I., & Karim, Y. (2012).

 Impact of risk management on non-performing loans and profitability of banking sector of Pakistan. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*(7), 307-315. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Hannafey, F. T., & Vitulano, L. A. (2013, July). Ethics and executive coaching: An agency theory approach. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 115, 599-603. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1442-z
- Harrison, J. S., & Wicks, A. C. (2013). Stakeholder theory, value, and firm performance.

 *Business Ethics Quarterly, 23, 97-124. doi:10.5840/beq20132314
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 16(4), 98. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Heracleous, L., & Lan, L. L. (2012). Agency theory, institutional sensitivity, and inductive reasoning: Towards a legal perspective. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49, 223-239. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2011.01009.x
- Hiebl, M. R. (2015). Agency and stewardship attitudes of chief financial officers in private companies. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, 7(1), 4-23. doi:10.1108/QRFM-12-2012-0032
- Hieronymi, A. (2013). Understanding systems science: A visual and integrative approach.

 Systems Research & Behavioral Science, 30, 580-595. doi:10.1002/res.2215
- Hirsch, S., & Gschwandtner, A. (2013). Profit persistence in the food industry: Evidence



- from five European countries. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 40, 741-759. doi:10.1093/erae/jbt007
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013, March). Rigour in qualitative case-study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hull, R. M. (2014). Debt-equity decision-making with wealth transfers. *Managerial Finance*, 40, 1223-1250. doi:10.1108/MF-09-2013-0239
- Hussain, H. A., & Al-Ajmi, J. (2012). Risk management practices of conventional and Islamic banks in Bahrain. *Journal of Risk Finance*, *13*, 215-239. doi:10.1108/15265941211229244
- Ibe, S. O. (2013). The impact of liquidity management on the profitability of banks in Nigeria. *Journal of Finance and Bank Management*, *1*(1), 37-48. Retrieved from http://jfbmnet.com/
- Ida, M., & Shibui, S. (2012). Document analysis and stability for comprehension of university evaluation reports. *International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology*, *3*, 106-111. doi:10.7763/IJIMT.2012.V3.206
- Ingham-Broomfield, R. (2015). A nurses' guide to qualitative research. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 32(3), 34-40. Retrieved from http://www.ajan.com.au/
- Jackson, W. E. (2014). Does organizational form impact pricing asymmetry? Evidence from nonprofit financial institutions. *Southern Economic Journal*, 81(2), 506-518. doi:10.4284/0038-4038-2012.294



- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(42), 1-10. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Jaseviciene, F., Kedaitis, V., & Vidzbelyte, S. (2014). Credit unions' activity and factors determining the choice of them in Lithuania. *Ekonomika*, 93(1), 117-130.

 Retrieved from http://www.zurnalai.vu.lt/ekonomika
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency cost and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 4, 305-360. doi:10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
- Jessiman, W. C. (2013). 'To be honest, I haven't even thought about it' recruitment in small-scale, qualitative research in primary care. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(2), 18-23. doi:10.7748/nr2013.11.21.2.18.e226
- Jiang, H. J., Lockee, C., & Fraser, I. (2012). Enhancing board oversight on quality of hospital care: An agency theory perspective. *Health Care Management Review*, 37, 144-153. doi:10.1097/HMR.0b013e3182224237
- Jimenez-Martin, J. A., McAleer, M., Perez-Amaral, T., & Santos, P. A. (2013). GFC robust risk management under the Basel Accord using extreme value methodologies. *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation*, *94*, 223-237. doi:10.1016/j.matcom.2013.08.010
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Qualitative sales research: An exposition of grounded theory.
 Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 35, 262-273.
 doi:10.1080/08853134.2014.954581



- Johnson, S., Seaton, S. E., Manktelow, B. N., Smith, L. K., Field, D., Draper, E. S., ...
 Boyle, E. M. (2014). Telephone interviews and online questionnaires can be used to improve neurodevelopmental follow-up rates. *BMC Research Notes*, 7(1), 1-13. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-7-219
- Jones, T. M., & Felps, W. (2013). Stakeholder happiness enhancement: A neo-utilitarian objective for the modern corporation. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 23, 349-379. doi:10.5840/beq201323325
- Kahuria, C. W., & Waweru, G. (2015). Does capital structure matter? Effects on profitability of firms listed at the Nairobi Securities Exchange. *Journal of Business, Economics & Finance*, 4, 316-330.

 doi:10.17261/Pressacademia.2105313055
- Kar, A. K., & Swain, R. B. (2014). Interest rates and financial performance of microfinance institutions: Recent global evidence. *European Journal of Development Research*, 26, 87-106. doi:10.1057/ejdr.2013.33
- Karaa, A., & Krichene, A. (2012). Credit risk assessment using support vectors machine and multilayer neural network models: A comparative study case of a Tunisian bank. *Accounting and Management Information Systems*, 11, 587-620. Retrieved from http://www.cig.ase.ro/revista_cig/
- Kargi, H. S. (2014). Credit risk and the performance of Nigerian Banks. Acme Journal of Accounting, Economics and Finance, 1(1), 7-14. Retrieved from http://www.acmejournals.org/Journals/Social-Sciences/AJAEF/about.html
 Kayode, O. F., Obamuyi, T. M., Owoputi, J. A., & Adeyefa, F. A. (2015). Credit risk and



- bank performance in Nigeria. *International Organization of Scientific Research Journal of Economics and Finance*, 6(2), 21-28. doi:10.9790/5933-06222128
- Keramidou, I., Mimis, A., Fotinopoulou, A., & Tassis, C. D. (2013). Exploring the relationship between efficiency and profitability. *Benchmarking*, 20, 647-660. doi:10.1108/BIJ-12-2011-0090
- Khandoker, M. S., Raul, R. K., & Rahman, S. G. (2013). Determinants of profitability of non bank financial institutions: Evidence from Bangladesh. *International Journal of Management Sciences and Business Research*, 2(4), 31-42. Retrieved from http://www.ijmsbr.com/home/
- Kivuvo, R. M., & Olweny, T. (2014). Financial performance analysis of Kenya's SACCO sector using the Altman Z score model of corporate bankruptcy.

 *International Journal of Business and Social Science, 5(9), 34-52. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com/index.php/home
- Knoll, J. (2016, March). Advertising in social media: A review of empirical evidence.International Journal of Advertising, 35, 266-300.doi:10.1080/02650487.2015.1021898
- Kolapo, T. F., Ayeni, R. K., & Oke, M. O. (2012). Credit risk and commercial banks' performance in Nigeria: A panel model approach. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 2(2), 31-38. Retrieved from http://www.ajbmr.com/
- Kouam, C. E., Delisle, H., Ebbing, H. J., Israel, A. D., Salpeteur, C., Aiissa, M. A., & Ridde, V. (2014). Perspectives for integration into the local health system of community-based management of acute malnutrition in children under 5 years: A



- qualitative study in Bangladesh. *Nutrition Journal*, *13*, 22-36. doi:10.1186/1475-2891-13-22
- Kurawa, J. M., & Garba, S. (2014). An evaluation of the effect of credit risk management (CRM) on the profitability of Nigerian banks. *Journal of Modern Accounting and Auditing*, 10(1), 104-115. Retrieved from http://www.davidpublishing.com/
- Lai, Y. L., & Chang, S. C. (2013). How improving the customer experience quality and business performance? A case study by mystery shopper practices. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 5, 52-61. doi:10.5539/ims.v5n6p52
- Lalor, J. G., Casey, D., Elliott, N., Coyne, I., Comiskey, C., Higgins, A., ... Begley, C. (2013). Using case study within a sequential explanatory design to evaluate the impact of specialist and advanced practice roles on clinical outcomes: The SCAPE study. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *13*(55), 1-10. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-55
- Lartey, V. C., Antwi, S., & Boadi, E. K. (2013). The relationship between liquidity and profitability of listed banks in Ghana. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *4*(3), 48-56. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Lauckner, H., Paterson, M., & Krupa, T. (2012, August). Using constructivist case study methodology to understand community development processes: Proposed methodological questions to guide the research process. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(13), 1-22. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Lee, R. Y., Moles, R., & Chaar, B. (2015). Mifepristone (RU486) in Australian pharmacies: The ethical and practical challenges. *Contraception*, 91, 25-30.



- doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2014.08.003
- Legenne, M., Chirac, A., Ruer, M., Reix, F., & Fibet, M. (2015). Perception of naturopathy for female patients with metastatic gynecological cancer: A qualitative study. *Palliative and Supportive Care*, *13*, 1-6. doi:10.1017/S1478951515000553
- Liang, H., & Reichert, A. K. (2012). The impact of banks and non-bank financial institutions on economic growth. *Service Industries Journal*, *32*, 699-717. doi:10.1080/02642069.2010.529437
- Madison, G. (2015). Daring to listen to the truth of the body: Existential-phenomenology needs the body's response. *Existential Analysis*, 26, 237-242. Retrieved from http://existentialanalysis.org.uk/
- Mahaney, R. C., & Lederer, A. L. (2011). An agency theory explanation of project success. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *51*(4), 102-113. Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php
- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014, March 13). Awareness and minimisation of systemic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, 23, 279-282. Retrieved from http://www.britishjournalofnursing.com/
- Mangal, V. (2013). Systems theory and social networking: Investigation of systems theory principles in Web 2.0 social network systems. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, *3*, 117-135. Retrieved from www.ijbcnet.com
- Mariotto, F. L., Pinto Zanni, P., & De Moraes, G. M. (2014). What is the use of a single-case study in management research? *RAE*, *54*, 358-369. doi:10.1590/S0034-



759020140402

- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research?: A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*(1), 11-22. Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- McConnell-Henry, T., Chapman, Y., & Francis, K. (2011). Member checking and heideggerian phenomenology: A redundant component. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(2), 28-37. doi:10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.28.c8282
- Mealer, M., & Jones, J. (2014). Methodological and ethical issues related to qualitative telephone interviews on sensitive topics. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(4), 32-37. doi:10.7748/nr2014.03.21.4.32.e1229
- Mehrotra, V. (2011). Angel agents: What we can (and cannot) learn from Pierre Lefaucheux's stewardship of Regie Renault. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 25, 14-20. doi:10.5465/AMP.2011.61020799
- Miana, L., & Ishmail, M. (2014). Capital structure and financial performance in Kenya:

 Evidence from firms listed at the Nairobi Securities Exchange. *International*Journal of Social Sciences and Entrepreneurship, 1(11), 209-223. Retrieved from http://www.ijsse.org/
- Miller, D., & Sardais, C. (2011). Angel agents: Agency theory reconsidered. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 25, 6-13. doi:10.5465/AMP.2011.61020798



- Miner-Romanoff, K. (2012). Interpretative and critical phenomenological crime studies:

 A model design. *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 1-32. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Minoja, M. (2012). Stakeholder management theory, firm strategy, and ambidexterity. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 67-82. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1380-9
- Misangyi, V. F., & Acharya, A. G. (2014). Substitutes or complements? A configurational examination of corporate governance mechanisms. *Academy of Management Journal*, *57*, 1681-1705. doi:10.5465/amj.2012.0728
- Mishra, A., & Mishra, D. (2013). Applications of stakeholder theory in information systems and technology. *Inzinerine Ekonomika*, 24, 254-266. doi:10.5755/j01.ee.24.3.4618
- Mishra, U., & Naidu, M. P. (2016). A study of credit risk management and appraisal process at Punjab National Bank, Nagpur. *International Journal of Multifaceted and Multilingual Studies*, 3(1), 1-9. Retrieved from www.ijmms.in
- Mitchell, J. (2014). Advancing grounded theory: Using theoretical frameworks within grounded theory studies. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(35), 1-11. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Mohammed, D. (2013). A dynamic panel model of capital structure and agency cost in Nigerian listed companies. *Global Conference on Business and Finance Proceedings*, 8(1), 145-153. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/proceedings.htm
- Mokhtar, M. Z., & Wan-Ismail, W. N. (2012). Marketing strategies and the difference



- level of sales and profits performance of the Batik SMEs in Malaysia. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 7(23), 96-111.

 doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n23p96
- Mokni, R. B., Echchabi, A., Azouzi, D., & Rachdi, H. (2014). Risk management tools practiced in Islamic banks: Evidence in MENA region. *Journal of Islamic Accounting and Business Research*, 5(1), 77-97. doi:10.1108/JIABR-10-2012-0070
- Mokni, R. B., Echchabi, A., & Mohamed, T. R. (2013). Risk management tools practiced in Tunisian commercial banks. *Studies in Business & Economics*, 8(1), 55-78.

 Retrieved from http://eccsf.ulbsibiu.ro/index.html
- Moll, S. E. (2014). The web of silence: A qualitative case study of early intervention and support for healthcare workers with mental ill-health. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 1-23. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-138
- Mook, L., Maiorano, J., & Quarter, J. (2015). Credit unions: Market niche or market accommodation? *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44, 814-831. doi:10.1177/0899764014538121
- Mur-Duenas, P. (2012). A corpus-based analysis of two crucial steps in business management research articles: The creation of a research space and the statement of limitations. *Nordic Journal of English Studies*, *11*(1), 55-78. Retrieved from http://ojs.ub.gu.se/ojs/index.php/njes
- Mustapha, M., & Ayoib, C. A. (2011). Agency theory and managerial ownership: Evidence from Malaysia. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 26, 419-436.



- Musyoki, D., & Kadubo, A. S. (2012). The impact of credit risk management on the financial performance of Banks in Kenya for the period 2000-2006. *International Journal of Business and Public Management*, 2(2), 72-80. Retrieved from http://mku.ac.ke/journals/
- Nagler, R. H., Ramanadhan, S., Minsky, S., & Viswanath, K. (2013, February).

 Recruitment and retention for community-based eHealth interventions with populations of low socioeconomic position: Strategies and challenges. *Journal of Communication*, 63, 201-220. doi:10.1111/jcom.12008
- Nago, T., Ly, A., & Mullineux, A. (2014). The impact of scale of operation on financial performance in microfinance. *Eurasian Economic Review*, *4*, 177-198. doi:10.1007/s40822-014-0011-4
- Nascimento, S., Franco, P., Sousa, F., Dias, J., & Neves, F. (2012). Automated computational delimitation of SST upwelling areas using fuzzy clustering.

 Computers & Geosciences, 43, 207-216. doi:10.1016/j.cageo.2011.10.025
- National Institutes of Health. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research (DHEW Publication
 No. (OS) 78-0013). Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Naude, C. E., Zani, B., Ongolo-Zogo, P., Wiysonge, C. S., Dudley, L., Kredo, T., ...
 Young, T. (2015). Research evidence and policy: Qualitative study in selected provinces in South Africa and Cameroon. *Implementation Science*, 10(1), 1-10. doi:10.1186/s13012-015-0315-0



- Nawaz, M., Munir, S., Siddiqui, S. A., Tahseen-Ul-Ahad, F. A., Asif, M., & Ateeq, M. (2012). Credit risk and the performance of Nigerian Banks. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, *4*(7), 49-63. Retrieved from ijcrb.webs.com
- Nazir, M. S., Daniel, A., & Nawaz, M. M. (2012). Risk management practices: A comparison of conventional and Islamic banks in Pakistan. *American Journal of Scientific Research*, (68), 114-122. Retrieved from http://www.americanjournalofscientificresearch.com/
- Nembhard, J. G. (2013). Community development credit unions: Securing and protecting assets in black communities. *Review of Black Political Economy*, 40(4), 459-490. doi:10.1007/s12114-013-9166-6
- Newington, L., & Metcalfe, A. (2014). Factors influencing recruitment to research:

 Qualitative study of the experiences and perceptions of research teams. *BMC*Medical Research Methodology, 14(1), 1-20. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-10
- Nijjar, N. J. (2013). Can financial ratios reliably measure the performance of banks in Bahrain? *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, *5*, 152-163. doi:10.5539/ijef.v5n3p152
- Nolen, A., & Talbert, T. (2011). Qualitative assertions and prescriptive statements. *Educational Psychology Review*, 23, 263-271. doi:10.1007/s10648-011-9159-6
- Norvaisiene, R. (2012). The impact of capital structure on the performance efficiency of Baltic listed companies. *Inzinerine Ekonomika-Engineering Economics*, 23, 505-516. doi:10.5755/j01.ee.23.5.1979



- Nottingham, S., & Henning, J. (2014). Feedback in clinical education, part I:

 Characteristics of feedback provided by approved clinical instructors. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 49(1), 49-57. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-48.6.14
- Nworji, I. D., & Alayemi, S. A. (2014). Strategic management of liquidity and its relationship with profitability: Evidence from emerging market (cement industry in Nigeria). *Indian Journal of Management Studies*, *4*(1), 1-9. Retrieved from http://www.scholarshub.net/ijms
- Nyberg, A. J., Fulmer, I. S., Gerhart, B., & Carpenter, M. A. (2010, October). Agency theory revisited: CEO return and shareholder interest alignment. *Academy of Management Journal*, *53*, 1029-1049. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2010.54533188
- Obamuyi, T. M. (2013). Determinants of banks' profitability in a developing economy:

 Evidence from Nigeria. *Organizations & Markets in Emerging Economies*, 4, 97
 111. Retrieved from http://www.om.ef.vu.lt/
- Ochieng, J. (2012). Value and importance of informed consent to researchers at Makerere University. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *5*, 16-19. doi:10.4103/1755-6783.92872
- Ofoeda, I., Abor, J., & Charles, K. D. (2012). Non-bank financial institutions regulation and risk-taking. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 433-450. doi:10.1108/13581981211279372
- Ogboi, C., & Unuafe, O. K. (2013). Impact of credit risk management and capital adequacy on the financial performance of commercial banks in Nigeria. *Journal of Emerging Issues in Economics, Finance and Banking*, 2, 703-717. Retrieved



- from http://www.globalbizresearch.com/
- Ojong, N. (2014). Credit unions as conduits for microfinance delivery in Cameroon.

 Annals of Public & Cooperative Economics, 85, 287-304.

 doi:10.1111/apce.12041
- Olando, C. O., Jagongo, A., & Mbewa, M. O. (2013, September). The contribution of SACCO financial stewardship to growth of SACCOs in Kenya. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *3*(17), 112-137. Retrieved from http://www.ijhssnet.com/
- Olsen, P. I. (2013). IMP theory in light of process and systems theories. *IMP Journal*, 7, 159-170. Retrieved from http://impjournal.org/
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2012). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Ory, J. N., & Lemzeri, Y. (2012). Efficiency and hybridization in cooperative banking:

 The french case. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 8(2), 215-250.

 doi:10.1111/j.1467-8292.2012.00462.x
- Owen, G. T. (2014). Qualitative methods in higher education policy analysis: Using interviews and document analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(26), 1-19.

 Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Painter-Morland, M. (2011). Rethinking responsible agency in corporations: Perspectives from Deleuze and Guattari. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *101*, 83-95. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1175-4



- Pana, E., Vitzthum, S., & Willis, D. (2015). The impact of internet-based services on credit unions: A propensity score matching approach. *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting*, 44(2), 329-352. doi:10.1007/s11156-013-0408-2
- Parola, F., Satta, G., & Panayides, P. M. (2015, March). Corporate strategies and profitability of maritime logistics firms. *Maritime Economics & Logistics*, *17*(1), 52-78. doi:10.1057/mel.2014.18
- Peake-Andrasik, M., Chandler, C., Powell, B., Humes, D., Wakefield, S., Kripke, K., & Eckstein, D. (2014). Bridging the divide: HIV prevention research and black men who have sex with men. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*, 708-714. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301653
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 1: Introducing the philosophy of qualitative research. *Manual Therapy*, *XXX*, 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.006
- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher as instrument: An exercise in interviewer self reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, *12*, 165-185. doi:10.1177/1468111422107
- Pienkos, E. S. (2014). Using phenomenology to understand hallucinatory experiences.

 *PCSP: Pragmatic Case Studies in Psychotherapy, 10, 260-270. Retrieved from http://pcsp.libraries.rutgers.edu/index.php/pcsp/index
- Pinto, A. D., Manson, H., Pauly, B., Thanos, J., Parks, A., & Cox, A. (2012). Equity in public health standards: A qualitative document analysis of policies from two Canadian provinces. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 11(28).



- doi:10.1186/1475-9276-11-28
- Pissourious, I. A. (2014). A historical overview and critical analysis of town centre delimitation methodologies. *Bulletin of Geography. Socio-Economic Series*, 25(25), 155-165. doi:10.2478/bog-2014-0036
- Poudel, R. P. (2012). The impact of credit risk management on financial performance of commercial banks in Nepal. *International Journal of Arts and Commerce*, 1(5), 9-15. Retrieved from http://www.ijac.org.uk
- Price, R. M., Andrews, T. C., McElhinny, T. L., Mead, L. S., Abraham, J. K., Thanukos, A., & Perez, K. E. (2014). The genetic drift inventory: A tool for measuring what advanced undergraduates have mastered about genetic drift. *CBE Life Sciences Education*, *13*(1), 65-75. Retrieved from http://www.lifescied.org/
- Pugliese, A., Minichilli, A., & Zattoni, A. (2014). Integrating agency and resource dependence theory: Firm profitability, industry regulation, and board task performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 1189-1200. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.05.003
- Purnell, L., & Freeman, R. (2012). Stakeholder theory, fact/value dichotomy, and the normative core: How Wall Street stops the ethics conversation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 109-116. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1383-6
- Quebra, B., Bick, G., & Abratt, R. (2013). Service quality of advertising and promotions agencies in South Africa. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 19, 605-628. doi:10.1080/10496491.2013.829159
- Rabionet, S. E. (2011). How I learned to design and conduct semi-structured interviews.



- The Qualitative Report, 16, 563-566. Retrieved from http://tgr.nova.edu/
- Rademaker, L. L., Grace, E. J., & Curda, S. K. (2012). Using computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) to re-examine traditionally analyzed data: Expanding our understanding of the data and of ourselves as scholars. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(22), 1-11. Retrieved from http://tgr.nova.edu/
- Raelin, J. D., & Bondy, K. (2013). Putting the good back in good corporate governance:

 The presence and problems of double-layered agency theory. *Corporate Governance*, 21, 420-435. doi:10.1111/corg.12038
- Rashid, A. (2015). Revisiting agency theory: Evidence of board independence and agency cost from Bangladesh. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *130*(1), 181-198. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2211-y
- Rashid, A. (2016). Managerial ownership and agency cost: Evidence from Bangladesh. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 137(3), 609-621. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2570-z
- Rasiah, D., Tong, D. K., & Kim, P. K. (2014). Profitability and firm size-growth relationship in construction companies in Malaysia from 2003 to 2010. *Review of Pacific Basin Financial Markets & Policies*, *17*(3), 1-19. doi:10.1142/S0219091514500143
- Rehman, M. Z., Khan, M. N., & Khokhar, I. (2015). Investigating liquidity-profitability relationship: Evidence from companies listed in Saudi stock exchange (Tadawul).

 **Journal of Applied Finance and Banking, 5(3), 159-173. Retrieved from http://www.scienpress.com/default.asp
- Reilly, R. C. (2013). Found poems, member checking and crises of representation. *The*



- Qualitative Report, 18(30), 1-18. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Roberts, P. W. (2013). The profit orientation of microfinance institutions and effective interest rates. *World Development*, *41*, 120-131. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2012.05.022
- Robin, A., & Wollan, P. (2012). Credit union performance in the post Credit Union

 Membership Access Act of 1998 Era. *Southern Business Review*, *37*(1), 1-17.

 Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/p61306/southern-business-review
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, *35*, 260-271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Rubin, G. M., Overstreet Jr., G. A., Beling, P., & Rajaratnam, K. (2013). A dynamic theory of the credit union. *Annals of Operations Research*, 205, 29-53. doi:10.1007/s10479-012-1246-7
- Sakyi, P. A., Ofoeda, I., Kyereboah-Coleman, A., & Abor, J. Y. (2014). Risk and performance of non-bank financial institutions. *International Journal of Financial Services Management*, 7(1), 19-35. doi:10.1504/IJFSM.2014.062289
- Sanchez-Rodriquez, C., & Spraakman, G. (2012). Preview enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems and management accounting: A multiple case study. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 9, 398-414.



- Sarfaraz, A., Jenab, K., & Bowker, A. (2015). A view of development in management for increasing profitability in the corporate landscape. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 22(1), 120-134. doi:10.1108/BIJ-09-2012-0058
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4, 1-3. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Scope, limitations, and delimitations. Retrieved from http://www.dissertationrecipes.com/
- Singhania, M., Sharma, N., & Rohit, J. Y. (2014, September). Working capital management and profitability: Evidence from Indian manufacturing companies.

 *Decision, 4(3), 313-326. doi:10.1007/s40622-014-0043-3
- Smith, O. M., McDonald, E., Zytaruk, N., Foster, D., Matte, A., Clarke, F., ... Cook, D. J. (2013). Enhancing the informed consent process for critical care research:

 Strategies from a thromboprophylaxis trial. *Intensive & Critical Care Nursing*, 29, 300-309. doi:10.1016/j.iccn.2013.04.006
- Soltani, B. (2014). The anatomy of corporate fraud: A comparative analysis of high profile American and European corporate scandals. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 120, 251-274. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1660-z
- Soverall, W. (2012, February). CLICO's collapse: Poor corporate governance. *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 2(2), 166-178. Retrieved from www.aijcrnet.com



- Sufian, F. (2012). Determinants of bank profitability in developing economies: Empirical evidence from the South Asian banking sectors. *Contemporary South Asia*, 20, 375-399. doi:10.1080/09584935.2012.696089
- Tan, J. C., & Lee, R. (2015). An agency theory scale for financial services. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 29(5), 393-405. doi:10.1108/JSM-02-2014-0039
- Tashman, P., & Raelin, J. (2013). Who and what really matters to the firm: Moving stakeholder salience beyond managerial perceptions. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 23, 591-616. doi:10.5840/beq201323441
- Tauringana, V., & Godfred, A. A. (2013). The relative importance of working capital management and its components to SMEs' profitability. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 20(3), 453-469. doi:10.1108/JSBED-12-2011-0029
- Tessier, S. (2012). From field notes, to transcripts, to tape recordings: Evolution or combination? *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17, 446-460.

 Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*(2), 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Toloie-Eshlaghy, A., Chitsaz, S., Karimian, L., & Charkhchi, R. (2011). A classification of qualitative research methods. *Research Journal of International Studies*, 20(20), 106-123. Retrieved from http://www.eurojournals.com/international_studies.htm



- Tongco, M. D. (2007). Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. *Ethnobotany**Research and Applications, 5, 147-158. Retrieved from http://www.ethnobotanyjournal.org/
- Trujillo-Ponce, A. (2013). What determines the profitability of banks? Evidence from Spain. *Accounting & Finance*, *53*, 561-586. doi:10.1111/j.1467-629X.2011.00466.x
- Tuohy, D., Cooney, A., Dowling, M., Murphy, K., & Sixsmith, J. (2013). An overview of interpretive phenomenology as a research methodology. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 17-20. doi:10.7748/nr2013.07.20.6.17.e315
- Ukaegbu, B., & Oino, I. (2014). The determinants of capital structure: A comparison of financial and non-financial firms in a regulated developing country - Nigeria. African Journal of Economic and Management Studies, 5, 341-368. doi:10.1108/AJEMS-11-2012-0072
- Van der Merwe, L. (2014). The first experiences of music students with Dalcroze-inspired activities: A phenomenological study. *Psychology of Music*, *43*, 390-405. doi:10.1177/0305735613513485
- Vartian, C. V., Singh, H., Russo, E., Sittig, D. F., & Chessare, J. B. (2014). Development and field testing of a self-assessment guide for computer-based provider order entry/practitioner application. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, *59*, 338-353.

 Retrieved from https://ache.org/
- Vissak, T., Francioni, B., & Musso, F. (2012). MVM's nonlinear internationalization: A case study. *Journal of East-West Business*, *18*, 275-300.



- Walker, J. L. (2012). The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(2), 37-41. Retrieved from http://pappin.com/index.php
- Walters, J. A., Cameron-Tucker, H., Courtney-Pratt, H., Nelson, M., Robinson, A., Scott, J., ... Wood-Baker, R. (2012). Supporting health behaviour change in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with telephone health-mentoring: Insights from a qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice*, *13*(1), 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2296-13-55
- Whiffin, C. J., Bailey, C., Ellis-Hill, C., & Jarret, N. (2014). Challenges and solutions during analysis in a longitudinal narrative case study. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(4), 20-26. doi:10.7748/nr2014.03.21.4.20.e1238
- White, D. E., Oelke, N. D., & Friesen, S. (2012). Management of a large qualitative data set: Establishing trustworthiness of the data. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11, 244-258. Retrieved from https://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/index
- Wieland, A., & Wallenburg, C. M. (2012). Dealing with supply chain risks: Linking risk management practices and strategies to performance. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 42, 887-905. doi:10.1108/09600031211281411
- Williams, B., & Rajaguru, G. (2013). "The chicken or the egg? The trade-off between bank fee income and net interest margins". *Australian Journal of Management*,



- 31(1), 99-123. doi:10.1177/0312896212440268
- Wiseman, R. M., Cuevas-Rodriguez, G., & Gomez-Mejia, L. R. (2012). Towards a social theory of agency. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49, 202-222. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2011.01016.x
- Wlodarczyk, B. (2014). Space in tourism, tourism in space: On the need for definition, delimitation and classification. *Tourism*, 24(1), 25-34. doi:10.2478/tour-2014-0003
- Wood, D. M., & Dargan, P. I. (2012). Understanding how data triangulation identifies acute toxicity of novel psychoactive drugs. *Journal of Medical Toxicology*, 8, 300-303. doi:10.1007/s13181-012-0241-3
- Xu, D., & Meyer, K. E. (2013, November). Linking theory and context: 'Strategy research in emerging economies' after Wright et al.(2005). *Journal of Management Studies*, 50, 1322-1346. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2012.01051.x
- Xu, M. A., & Storr, G. B. (2012). Learning the concept of researcher as instrument in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *17*(21), 1-18. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Yahaya, O. A., Lamidi, Y. S., Kutigi, U. M., & Ahmed, M. (2015). The correlation between risk management and organizational performance: An empirical investigation using panel data. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 6, 136-146. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA
- Yamashita, T., & Rhoads, D. D. (2013). Species delimitation and morphological divergence in the scorpion centruroides vittatus (say, 1821): Insights from



- phylogeography. *PLoS One*, 8(1), 1-16. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068282
- Yasin, F. (2014, January). Comparative study of risk management practices of Islamic versus conventional banks in Pakistan. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 16(1), 79-82. Retrieved from www.iosrjournals.org
- Yazdanfar, D. (2013). Profitability determinants among micro firms: Evidence from Swedish data. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 9(2), 151-160. doi:10.1108/17439131311307565
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research design and methods* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, Ca: Sage Publications.
- Yoo, T., & Rhee, M. (2013). Agency theory and the context for R&D investment: Evidence from Korea. *Asian Business & Management*, 12, 227-252. doi:10.1057/abm.2013.2
- Young, W., & Leveson, N. G. (2014). An integrated approach to safety and security based on systems theory. *Communications of the ACM*, *57*(2), 31-35. doi:10.1145/2556938
- Zachariadis, M., Scott, S., & Barrett, M. (2013, September). Methodological implications of critical realism for mixed methods research. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*, 855-879.

 Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/



Appendix A: Draft Letter of Cooperation

[Insert name of Community Research Partner and Contact Information here]

[Insert date here]

Dear Ms. Francis-Sandy,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled *Strategies for Maintaining Credit Union Profitability in Grenada* within the [*Insert Name of Community Partner here*]. As part of this study, I authorize you to obtain informed consent, conduct and record interviews, conduct subsequent validation of interview responses (member checking), and share the results of this study with the participants and General Manager of this Credit Union. Based on the eligibility criteria you indicated in your letter of invitation, you may recruit participants from among the following persons: [*Insert the names of eligible persons*]. Please note that individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include authorizing you to access members of our Board of Directors, members of subcommittees of our Board of Directors, and/or holders of managerial or supervisory level positions within our organization. We also understand that we are responsible for allowing you access the aforementioned members during working hour to conduct interviews and subsequently to validate your interpretations of the participants' responses at a mutually convenient time. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely,

[Signature of Community Research Partner and Contact Information]

Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the sender of the email, or (b) copied on the email containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying



marker. Walden University staff verify any electronic signatures that do not originate from a password-protected source (i.e., an email address officially on file with Walden).



Appendix B: Interview Protocol

I. Introduction

Good day, my name is Nadia Francis-Sandy. Thank you for agreeing to participate in my doctoral study about strategies for maintaining profitability of credit unions in Grenada. We agreed on this date and time. However, I'd like you to confirm that this time is still convenient to you. (Reschedule to a more convenient time if necessary).

II. Acknowledge receipt of consent form

I received your signed consent form. Do you have any questions regarding the study or the consent form? (Answer questions, if any).

III. Review confidentiality procedures

During this interview we will talk about strategies you use to maintain the profitability of this credit union. I want to assure you that our discussion is confidential. I will not share your personal information with anyone else. I will code your responses to conceal identifying features and will remain confidential.

With your permission, I will record this interview. (If the interviewee refuses to give permission for recording, take notes as an alternative). Once it is complete, I will transcribe, code, and prepare a written interpretation of your responses. I will email a copy of my interpretation of your responses to you. Upon receipt, kindly review my interpretations for accuracy. If my interpretations are incorrect, please advise me by return email. In such a case, I will contact you again and arrange a convenient time for you to provide clarification. Is this approach agreeable to you? Let's begin.



IV. Interview questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to maintain profitability?
- 2. Proponents of agency theory advocate that a divergence of interest exists between agents like yourself and shareholders or members of the credit union. How do the profit strategies you employ prove or disprove this proposition?
- 3. How do the strategies you use to maintain profitability advance the interest of shareholders?
- 4. How do you conduct your profitability analysis?
- 5. What performance tools do you use to monitor and measure profitability?
- 6. What approach do you take when it becomes apparent to you that you current strategies will not be effective at maintaining profitability?
- 7. How often do you review your strategies for maintaining profitability?
- 8. What other information can you share regarding maintaining profitability that I did not ask?

V. Closing

Record final remarks. Close with: Thank you for taking time to participate in this study. As earlier discussed, I will send you a copy of my interpretations of your responses for you to verify. I will be grateful if you will return it quickly along with your comments. I will be happy to send you the results of my study when it is finished.



Appendix C: Case Study Protocol

Overview of Study

The purpose of this multiple qualitative case study is to explore the strategies that leaders of credit unions in Grenada use to maintain profitability. Leaders of credit unions in Grenada will participate in semistructured telephone interview geared at answering the specific business problem. The results of this study may be useful to leaders of credit unions in Grenada in reevaluating their strategies for maintain profitability and developing new ones.

2 Data Collection Procedures

- Place call to participants the day before the scheduled telephone interview to remind them of the upcoming interview appointment.
- 2. On the day of the appointed telephone interview, place calls to participants at agreed time.
- 3. Upon answering, confirm with each participant that the appointed time remains convenient.
- 4. If the time is no longer convenient, express understanding and negotiate a new appointment time.
- 5. Repeat steps 1-3 as necessary.
- 6. Once the appointed time is convenient, thank the participants for taking the time to participate in the study and assure them that the information data



gathered will be held confidential. Also affirm with each participant that the interview will not exceed 20 to 30 minutes.

- Ask each participant to indicate if they have not heard or do not understand any interview question.
- ii. Proceed to ask interview questions.
- iii. Listen carefully.
- iv. Ask probing questions, if necessary.
- v. At the end of the interviews thank the participants for their time and remind them that they will receive a copy of the researcher's interpretation of their responses for them to confirm accuracy.

Questions and issues the researcher must keep in mind during data collection

- 1. Was each question clearly stated?
- 2. Did I influence or prompt responses from the interview participants?
- 3. Be engaging and listen attentively to the interview participants.

4 Guide for reporting findings

- 1. Provide a brief overview of the data collection method including the type of data collection instrument, data recording techniques, and challenges.
- 2. Present thematic analysis in tabular format.
- 3. Provide a discussion of the findings.
- 4. Make inferences based on the findings.



Appendix D: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to maintain profitability?
- 2. Proponents of agency theory advocate that a divergence of interest exists between agents like yourself and shareholders or members of the credit union. How do the profit strategies you employ prove or disprove this proposition?
- 3. How do the strategies you use to maintain profitability advance the interest of shareholders?
- 4. How do you conduct your profitability analysis?
- 5. What performance tools do you use to monitor and measure profitability?
- 6. What approach do you take when it becomes apparent to you that you current strategies will not be effective at maintaining profitability?
- 7. How often do you review your strategies for maintaining profitability?
- 8. What other information can you share regarding maintaining profitability that I did not ask?

